INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI

films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some

thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be

from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the

copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality

illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins,

and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete

manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if

unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate

the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by

sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and

continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each

original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced

form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced

xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white

photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations

appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to

order.

UMI

A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA

313/761-4700 800/521-0600



THE EFFECTS OF ANALYST FOLLOWING ON MARKET RESPONSE TO BANK LOAN ANNOUNCEMENTS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Accounting

by
Joan Marie Brumm
B.S., Wayne State University, 1976
M.B.A., East Texas State University at Texarkana, 1991
May 1996

UMI Number: 9637764

Copyright 1996 by Brumm, Joan Marie

All rights reserved.

UMI Microform 9637764 Copyright 1996, by UMI Company. All rights reserved.

This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, MI 48103

DEDICATION

My best friend and greatest source of strength and encouragement did not live to see the completion of this dissertation, but his memory continues to inspire me.

This dissertation is dedicated to the memory of my brother, John Noble Brumm.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I first wish to express my gratitude to the members of my committee: Donald Deis (Chairman), Nicholas Apostolou, Michael Luehlfing, and Myron Slovin (Finance). I am indebted to them for their helpful comments and quidance.

I am also especially grateful to Gil Urban for providing insight into analyst-firm relationship and to Darryl Guffey and Donald Pagach for their comments on early drafts of the proposal.

My family has given me continual love and encouragement throughout this doctoral process. My sincere appreciation goes to my parents, Henry and Virginia Brumm, and my daughter Rachel Gaskin.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	•	•			•	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	•	•	•	•	•	iii
ABSTRACT	•		•	•		vi
CHAPTER ONE - OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY .						1
Research Questions						2
Research Hypotheses						5
Research Method						7
Expected Contribution		•	•	•	•	10
CHAPTER TWO - LITERATURE REVIEW			•			12
Loan Announcements						12
Analyst Following						18
Reputation			Ī		_	21
Share Price	•	•	•	•	•	24
Presentations to New York Society			•	•	•	24
Generations to New York Society	J L					29
Security Analysts	•	•	•	•	•	32
Summary	•	•	•	•	•	32
CHAPTER THREE - RESEARCH METHOD	_					33
Statements of Hypotheses						33
Sample Data						34
Abnormal Return Calculations						41
Tests of Hypothesis One						45
						47
Tests of Hypothesis Two	•	•	•	•	•	
Tests of Hypothesis Three	•	•	•	•	•	49
Tests of Hypothesis Four	•	•	•	•	•	50
Comprehensive Tests	•	•	•	•	•	52
Summary	•	•	•	•	•	53
CHAPTER FOUR - RESULTS						54
Sample Selection						54
Sample Selection Procedures						54
Sample Selection Results						55
Characteristics of the Sample	Fi	irn	ns		_	56
Results of the Tests of Hypotheses					_	64
Hypothesis One	•	•	•	•	•	64
Hypothesis Two	•	•	•	•	•	67
	•	•	•	•	•	71
Hypothesis Three	•	•	•	•	•	
Hypothesis Four	•	•	•	•	•	75
Comprehensive Tests	•	•	•	•	•	78
Summary	•	•				85

CHAPTER FIVE - SUMMARY AND	CONCLUSIONS		•		•		86
Overview of the Study							86
Expectations						•	88
Results							90
Conclusions						•	93
Limitations				•		•	95
Suggestions for Future	Research .	•	•	•	•	•	96
SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY		•		•		•	98
VTTA							102

ABSTRACT

A number of theories have been developed that attempt to explain the role of bank loans and public debt in corporate financing. Research suggests that banks may have a comparative advantage in performing at least two valuable functions, information gathering and monitoring. The primary responsibility of analysts is also to gather and disseminate information on firms. However, it is not known how analysts following affects market response to bank loan announcements. The purpose of this study was to 1) determine whether financial analyst following affects market response to bank loan announcements and 2) to determine whether firms receiving bank loans actively seek the attention of analysts less than firms not receiving bank loans.

Results indicate that there is an analyst following effect that is not accounted for by firm size alone. In addition, the reputation of the analyst or brokerage is significant for portfolios of favorable loan announcements. Finally, the importance of both following and reputation measures seems to vary depending on the type of loan announcement (favorable or unfavorable) and firm size.

Contrary to expectations, firms announcing bank loans have lower share prices and make more

presentations to the NYSSA after controlling for size than other firms within the same industry. These results indicate that firms announcing bank loans are actively seeking the attention of analysts more than other firms.

Finally, other variables which banking theory suggests may influence market response to bank loan announcements are found to be significant for particular loan type by firm size portfolios of firms. Significant variables include industry classification, the relative size of the loan, the number of banks participating in the loan, and the length of time firm data has been available on the CRSP tapes.

CHAPTER ONE

OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY

A number of theories have been developed that attempt to explain the role of bank loans and public debt in corporate financing (Fama 1985; Diamond 1991; Easterwood and Kadapakkam 1991). These theories suggest that there is something unique about bank loans that other types of debt cannot provide. Fama (1985, 34) states that "the monitoring services purchased from banks can help explain the comparative advantage of bank loans for some borrowers." Easterwood and Kadapakkam (1991, 49) observe that evidence gathered from examining stock price reactions to various types of debt is "consistent with a unique role for private debt in resolving informational asymmetries." Thus, research suggests that banks may have a comparative advantage in performing at least two valuable functions: (1) information gathering and (2) monitoring.

The primary responsibility of analysts is to gather and disseminate information on firms. They also monitor management performance. Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros

(1989) find empirical support for the suggestion that the demand for the monitoring activities of security analysts is influenced by the information demands of investors. Technological developments have increased the amount of information analysts are able to gather. A recent article in Institutional Investor states that "until the mid-1980s, one of an analyst's goals was to be first to reach a company after its quarterly earnings announcement. Now, with multiple faxing and conference calls, Wall Streeters all get the same information at the same time" (1991, 82). Many suggest that the tools analysts have acquired have improved the quality of analysts' services. Edward Schollmeyer (1991, 82), a consultant and former leading analyst, contends that "analysts today know more about some companies than the companies themselves do. " Consequently, increased information production and monitoring by analysts result in reduced information asymmetry. James Balog (1991, 81), Chairman of the 1838 Investment Advisors Corp., states that "overall, analysts today are doing a better job, the American investor is better informed than ever before."

Research Questions

Both banks and financial analysts monitor and gather information about firms. It is not known,

however, how analyst following affects market response to bank loan announcements. If analysts are partial substitutes for the information gathering and monitoring services of banks, then increased analyst following should reduce the information content of bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone. This question is important for several reasons. First, analysts are among the primary users of financial accounting information. It is important, therefore, for accountants to understand the role analysts play in financial markets (Schipper, 1991). Second, research suggests that banks may provide unique services that are not replicated by the market.

Research Question 1: Does analyst following affect market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone?

To answer this question the effects of analyst following on the information content of bank loan announcements will be separated from firm size effects. There is a substantial amount of theoretical and empirical evidence indicating that the reputation of information providers is important (Klein and Leffler 1981; Titman and Trueman 1986; Slovin, Sushka, and Hudson 1990; Stickel 1992). Therefore, the effects of analyst and brokerage reputation on market response to the bank loan announcements will also be examined.

This study also has implications for leveraged firms. Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989, 503) state that "analysts play the role of monitors of managerial performance as a means of reducing agency costs of debt and equity." Therefore, firms may try to attract the attention of analysts as a means of reducing agency costs of debt. Alternatively, firms may choose bank monitoring. Diamond (1991, 716) suggests that if moral hazard is sufficiently widespread, then some borrowers will begin their reputation acquisition by being monitored by banks and later switch to issuing publicly placed debt.

Research Question 2: Do firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans?

Through an examination of corporate presentations to the New York Security Analysts Association (NYSSA) and share price, this study will provide insight into whether firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans.

The answer to this research question has important regulatory implications. Concern is often expressed over the welfare of uninformed traders. For this reason, the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) prohibits the use of inside information. However, security analyst

research is an important aspect of the current information dissemination process. Beaver (1978, 33) states that "from the onset, the SEC has implicitly relied upon the existence of a professional community in order to justify its apparatus as an effective means of disclosure." Insight into whether firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans may help regulators "balance between allowing effective information dissemination and avoiding giving an unfair advantage to particular investor groups" (Walmsley, Yadav, and Rees, 1992, 571).

Research Hypotheses

Hypotheses one and two examine the first research question: Does analyst following affect market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone? If analysts are partial substitutes for the information gathering and monitoring services of banks, then increases in the number and reputation of analysts and brokerages following a firm should reduce the information content of bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone.

Ho1: Analyst following does not reduce market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone.

- Hal: Analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone.
- Ho2: Higher reputation brokerage and analyst following does not reduce market response to loan announcements more than lower reputation brokerage and analyst following.
- Ha2: Higher reputation brokerage and analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements more than lower reputation brokerage and analyst following.

Hypotheses three and four examine the second research question: Do firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans? If firms receiving bank loans do seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans, then significantly higher share prices and significantly fewer presentations to the NYSSA would be expected for these firms.

- Ho3: The share prices of firms receiving bank loans are equal to or less than share prices of firms not receiving bank loans.
- Ha3: Share prices of firms receiving bank loans are higher than share prices of firms not receiving bank loans.
- Ho4: The number of presentations made to the New York Society of Securities Analysts by firms receiving bank loans is equal to or greater than the number of presentations made by firms not receiving bank loans.
- Ha4: The number of presentations made to the New York Society of Securities Analysts by firms receiving bank loans is lower than the number of presentations made by firms not receiving bank loans.

Research Method

To answer the research questions, a sample of firms receiving bank loans will be obtained by searching the Dow Jones News Wire for the period 1987 through 1992 for announcements of bank loan agreements. For hypotheses one and two, firms will be retained if there are no other major firm announcements in the five-day period surrounding the loan announcement. For hypotheses three and four, firms will be retained if there are no other equity or public debt issues within the year.

Loans will be classified as either: (1) initial loans, (2) favorable renewals, or (3) unfavorable renewals on the basis of information contained in the announcement. Loan agreements will be classified as new if the announcement indicates it is new (or does not indicate it is a renewal) and a search of the borrower's annual Form 10-k confirms that it is not a revision of an existing bank loan. Unfavorable loan renewals include cancellations, reductions in lending limits, or a tightening of loan restrictions.

Empirical evidence indicates that the industry to which a firm belongs influences a number of events.

Industry membership has been found to influence both the

Major firm annoucements include earnings and dividend annoucements, debt and equity issues, acquisitions, and management changes.

information content of earnings announcements (Bhushan 1989b) and analyst following (Bhushan 1989a; Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros 1989). Bhushan (1989a, 271) states that "the nature of the industry affects the cost of acquiring information: for some industries, information may be inexpensive to acquire, while for others one may have to spend considerable resources to get any information." Foster (1986) notes that industry forecasts and conditions also enter into the analysis of bank loan decisions. Therefore, the control sample for tests of hypotheses three and four will consist of firms within the same industry that do not receive a bank loan.

Standard event study methodology will be used to determine share price response to bank loan announcements. The market model will be used to calculate expected returns in the absence of a bank loan announcement for individual firms. Abnormal returns are the difference between the actual returns observed at the time of the loan announcement and the returns predicted by the market model regression. The abnormal returns will then be standardized to reflect statistical error in the determination of expected returns. Next, the standardized abnormal returns will be aggregated

across firms. Statistical tests of significance will be based on aggregated abnormal returns.

Brown and Warner (1985) find that tests continue to be well-specified as the event period is lengthened, but that the power of these tests decreases dramatically. In order to maintain the power of the statistical tests employed, the shortest possible event period will be used. Peterson (1989) notes that obtaining the date of news releases does not indicate whether the market receives the information during trading hours unless the time of the news releases are also obtained. If news is released after trading hours, market response will occur on the day following the announcement. Therefore, the announcement day is the day the *Dow Jones News Service* reports the announcement or the next day if the announcement is made after the close of trading.

Next, firm specific factors will be examined as a means of explaining the observed abnormal returns. This study will examine four factors: (1) the number of analysts and brokerages following a firm, (2) the reputation of analysts and brokerages following a firm, (3) firm share price, and (4) the number of presentations made to the New York Society of Security Analysts. The observed abnormal returns will be associated with these factors through regression

analysis. Additional controls for firm specific factors found to be significant in previous research will also be included.

Expected Contribution

The results of this study will indicate whether banks have some unique advantage in information gathering and monitoring that is not replicated elsewhere in the market or whether financial analysts are partial substitutes for these services. Results will also separate the affects of analyst following and firm size on the information content of bank loan announcements. In addition, the regressions examining share price and presentations to the NYSSA will provide some indication as to whether firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms within the same industry on receiving bank loans.

Certain limitations of the study must be recognized, however. First, in examining whether firms actively seek the attention of analysts only share prices and NYSSA presentations are considered. There may be a number of other steps firms might take to attract analysts' attention. Second, presentations to the NYSSA are only an indirect measure of the amount of contact between analysts and the firm. Presentations are only

the end of a spectrum of possible contacts between the firm and analysts.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows:
Chapter II discusses literature relevant to the proposed research questions, Chapter III describes the data and methodology to be used, Chapter IV discusses the empirical findings of the study, and Chapter V contains a summary and concluding remarks.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter reviews the research literature relevant to market response to bank loan announcements and analyst following. Section one reviews the development of loan announcement studies in general and bank loan announcements in particular. The second section reviews studies that have examined: 1) the effects of analyst following on various firm announcements and 2) firm characteristics that influence analyst following. Section Three reviews theoretical and empirical studies of firm share price. The last section reviews research on presentations to the New York Society of Security Analysts (NYSSA).

Loan Announcements

Fama (1985) provides a theoretical analysis of why firms use inside debt versus public debt. Inside debt is defined as "a contract where the debtholder gets access to information from an organization's decision process not otherwise publicly available" (36). His

theory centers around the information requirements for inside and publicly traded debt. Banks, as inside debtholders, have access to a firm's private information. In contrast, holders of publicly traded debt must rely on publicly available data. Therefore, sufficient publicly available information about the firm is necessary for public debt to be a viable means of financing. Fama (1985) suggests that for some firms it is less costly to give one agent (banker) access to the firm's decision process than to produce the range of publicly available information necessary to make public debt a viable means of financing. Thus, bank debt may be more advantageous for firms for which little public information is available.

Fama (1985) also suggests that an analysis of the effects of reserve requirements on certificates of deposit provides evidence that banks provide some unique services. Banks finance loans with certificates of deposit (CD's) that are subject to reserve requirements. This reserve tax is borne by bank borrowers making bank interest rates higher than interest rates on other securities of equivalent risk. Therefore, Fama (1985, 29) concludes that "there must be something special about banks that prevents other intermediaries from

competing to assure that it never pays to finance loans with CD's."

Stronger evidence for the uniqueness of bank loans is provided by studies that examine stock price reactions to various financing announcements. Results indicate that bank loans convey positive information to market participants. Studies consistently find significant positive abnormal returns at the time of bank loan announcements. In contrast, straight public debt issues do not result in any statistically significant market reaction (Mikkelson and Partch 1986; James 1987).

The differences in market response to bank loans and public debt is consistent with the inside-debt argument. However, both Mikkelson and Partch (1986) and James (1987) finds that there are no positive abnormal returns for debt privately placed with institutional investors. James examines 37 private debt placements over the 1974 to 1983 period 70 percent of which are with insurance companies. Mikkelson and Partch examine 80 private placements over the 1972 to 1982 period. In addition, both studies examine whether loan characteristics or characteristics of the borrower can explain the difference in market response to straight

debt, bank loans, and other privately place debt. The stated purpose of the loan, loan size, size of the offering relative to the firm's market value of common stock, loan maturity, borrower size, and borrower default risk do not explain the difference. Mikkelson and Partch (1986, 3) conclude that "the type of security is the only significant determination of the price response." Therefore, the non-positive market response to debt privately placed with institutional investors suggests that the inside-debt argument only partially explains the market's response to bank loans. James (1987, 217) concludes that this evidence indicates "banks provide some special service with their lending activity that is not available from other lenders."

Researchers indicate that banks appear to have a comparative advantage in performing at least two valuable services: 1) information gathering and 2) monitoring. Diamond (1984) develops a theory of financial intermediation which argues that intermediaries such as banks have a cost advantage in the production of information. James (1987, 21) notes that recent theories of intermediation imply that "bank loans are different from publicly placed debt because banks know more about a company's prospects than other

investors do." Diamond (1991) suggests that another important function of banks is the monitoring of their debt contract which alleviates the moral hazard problem. Banks have a cost advantage in monitoring because "the alternative is either duplication of effort if each lender monitors directly, or a free-rider problem, in which case no lender monitors" (Diamond 1991, 393).

Recent studies have expanded the literature by providing empirical support for the theoretical argument that banks have a comparative advantage over other lenders in performing information gathering and monitoring services. These studies separate bank loan announcements into the following three categories: (1) initial loans, (2) favorable renewals, and (3) unfavorable renewals. In the aggregate, favorable renewals of bank loan agreements consistently result in significantly positive abnormal stock price reactions. Best and Zhang (1993, 1511) conclude that these results confirm that "the process of monitoring and evaluation by banks conveys useful information to the market." Unfavorable loan renewals that reduce lending limits or tighten loan restrictions result in negative stock price reactions (Lummer and McConnell 1989; Slovin, Johnson, and Glascock 1992; Best and Zhang 1993).

Evidence regarding market response to initial bank loans is not as consistent as the response to loan renewals. Lummer and McConnell (1989) and Best and Zhang (1993) find no significant abnormal returns for new credit agreements. However, Slovin, Johnson, and Glascock (1992, 1058) find that initial loans are favorable events once firm size is taken into consideration. They conclude that banks provide several elements of financial activity, including "processing of private information and associated monitoring of firm activities" (1065).

In addition to separating the total sample of bank loan announcements according to bank loan type, Slovin, Johnson and Glascock (1992) examine the affects of firm size. Their findings indicate that when a sample of bank loan announcements is grouped according to firm size, positive stock price reactions occur only for the sample of small firms. As a group, large firms experience only normal returns. These results imply that the amount of information regarding a firm which is publicly available may influence market response to the bank loan announcement. The empirical results of previous loan announcement studies are given in Table 1.

Table 2-1 LOAN ANNOUNCEMENT STUDIES Announcement Period Excess Returns (%)								
		Bank Loan			le Unfavorable s Renewals			
Mikkelson & Partch 1986	NS	.89						
James 1987	NS	1.93						
Lummer & McConnell 1989		.61	NS	.87	-3.96			
Slovin, Johnson, Glascock 1992		1.31	1.09	1.55	-2.39			
Best & Zhang 1993		.32	NS	.75	-2.92			
NS denotes statistically insignificant results								

Analyst Following

The amount of information regarding a firm which is publicly available depends to a large extent on the information production and dissemination activities of financial analysts. Due to the important role analysts play in providing information to the public a number of studies attempt to determine which firms analysts will follow. Specific firm characteristics have been identified as influencing analyst following. Early studies focused on one characteristic in particular,

firm size. Bhushan (1989a) and Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989) investigate firm characteristics other than size that determine which companies analysts will follow. Before initiating an information search analysts compare search costs with the possible economic value of the information obtained. Findings, reported in Table 2,

Table 2-2 FIRM CHARACTERISTICS OF ANALYST FOLLOWING Moyer, Chatfield, Sisneros 1989 1. Size (+) 2. % of Institutional Owners (+) 3. Growth Rate for the Last 5 Years (+) 4. Long Term Debt/Common Equity (-) 5. % Insiders (-) 6. # Owners (+) 7. Industry Bhushan 1989 1. Size (+) 2. # Institutional Owners (+) Return Variability (+) 4. % Insiders (-) 5. Correlation of Firm Returns with Market Returns (+) 6. # Lines of Business (-) 7. % of Institutional Owners (+) 8. Industry (+) denotes a positive relation with analyst following (-) denotes a negative relation with analyst following

indicate that a number of factors influence analyst activity including ownership structure, return variability, correlation of firm returns with the market return, industry, and firm complexity.

Dempsey (1989) examines market response to 2,466 annual earnings announcements over the 1976 to 1982 period. Results indicate that increased analyst following reduces the information content of earnings announcements. Dempsey controls for firm size since a number of studies find that small firms experience greater security price reactions to earnings announcements than large firms (Atiase 1985; Bamber 1986; Freeman 1987). In univariate regressions both a firm size and an analyst following effect are observed. However, in the multiple regression model analyst following continues to be significant while firm size does not. The results of an off-diagonal analysis with dichotomous firm size and analyst following measures indicate that thinly followed large firms have significantly larger price responses than widely followed small firms. Dempsey (749) states that his findings are "consistent with analysts' use of a multivariate search incentive framework as provided in Bhushan (1989a)." Dempsey's findings are also consistent with Arbel and Strebel (1983) and Carvell and Strebel's (1987) research on the neglected firm effect. Arbel and Strebel (1983) find that after controlling for size, the number of analysts following a firm is negatively

related to the firm's annual return. The authors explain the effect as a premium for information.

Dempsey's findings that analyst following reduces market reaction to earnings announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone is not surprising given that the primary outputs of analysts are earnings forecasts. It is not as obvious whether increased analyst following will reduce market reaction to bank loan announcements. Research suggests that banks may provide unique services that are not replicated by the market. Bank loan announcements not only signal the favorableness of the private information gathered by the bank, but also indicate that the firm will be monitored by the bank during the loan period. However, the firm size effect observed by Slovin, Johnson, and Glascock (1992) indicates the amount of publicly available information regarding a firm may influence market response to bank loan announcements.

Reputation

A simplifying assumption made in most studies that examine analyst following is that analysts do not differ in quality. However, there is a substantial amount of theoretical and empirical evidence indicating that the reputation of information providers is important.

Klein and Leffler's (1981) reputation model demonstrates the importance of reputations in providing incentives to assure contract performance in the absence of third-party enforcement. A key point in the model is the value of future business which they refer to as the repeat-purchase mechanism. In order for the repeat-purchase mechanism to work the present discounted value of future income must be greater that the one-time benefit obtained from cheating. The amount invested in nonsalvagable capital costs are the means of signaling to the market that the firm has too much to lose by cheating. In the case of analyst's forecasts, brokerage houses have substantial investments in human capital with specialized expertise which they would not want to jeopardize.

Titman and Trueman (1986) extend the reputation literature by developing a model where the quality of the outside information producers is informative to market participants. Empirical support for the Titman and Trueman model is provided by a number of studies that examine the reputation effects of various information providers. Carter and Manaster (1990) find a significant negative relation between underwriter reputation and the magnitude of initial public offerings

price run-ups. Slovin, Sushka, and Hudson (1990) find evidence that investment banker reputation and the quality of the public accounting firm used are important factors in seasoned equity issues. More prestigious investment bankers and accounting firms lessen the negative response to seasoned equity issues.

The financial press often expresses the opinion that the reputation of analysts is also important. For example, a recent article in Business Week states that "sometimes, shares soar when they're recommended by a well-known research analyst" (Spiro, 1993, 87). Stickel's (1992) findings support the argument that there is a significant difference in the forecasts of security analysts. Examination of more than 40,000 earnings forecast revisions per year for the years 1981 to 1985 indicate that forecasts of analysts on the Institutional Investor All-American Research Team are superior to those of other analysts in several ways. First, contemporaneous forecasts of the All-American Research Team are more accurate. Secondly, All-Americans supply forecasts more frequently than other analysts. Finally, large upward revisions in earnings forecasts made by All-American Research Team members result in a greater security price response than large revisions by

other analysts (Stickel 1992). The affects of analyst and broker reputation on market response to bank loan announcements has not been examined.

Share Price

Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989, 503) contend that "analysts play the role of monitors of managerial performance as a means of reducing agency costs of debt and equity." Therefore, firms may try to attract the attention of analysts as a means of reducing agency costs of debt. Alternatively, firms may choose bank monitoring. Diamond (1991, 716) suggests that if moral hazard is sufficiently widespread, then some borrowers will begin their reputation acquisition by being monitored by banks and later switch to issuing publicly placed debt.

Firm characteristics studied by Bhushan (1989) and Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989) that influence analyst following are relatively stable and not easily changed. However, there are at least two means by which firms are able to attract analysts' attention without making major firm changes. Research indicates that firms can also attract analyst attention by: 1) increasing the potential economic benefit of information searches by lowering share price and 2) reducing analyst search costs by providing information to analysts through

direct contact. Firms that receive information gathering and monitoring services from banks via bank loans may seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans.

There are competing theories as to why firms lower share prices through stock splits. However, "it is clear that firms attempt to manage the unit price of their shares by stock splits and occasional reverse splits and there is a strong relation between the price per share and the size of the firm" (Brennan and Hughes 1991, 1665). It is often suggested that there is an optimal price range for common stock which insures liquidity. This 'liquidity' argument suggests that share prices must be kept sufficiently low to widen the market. Alternatively, Brennan and Hughes (1991) suggest that low share prices provide compensation for financial analysts' information gathering and dissemination activities.

Garbade and Silber (1979) define liquidity as the variance of the difference between realized price and the equilibrium value of an asset at the time a person decides to trade. One of two conditions must be present for an asset to be considered liquid, a relatively stable equilibrium price or frequent trading. For an

asset with a volatile equilibrium price to be liquid it must be traded frequently. Trading frequency reduces the chance of a substantial price change between the time a market participant decides to trade and the time the market ultimately clears. Trading frequency is a function of the number of market participants and is positively related to market size. Equity issues, such as common stock, are considered to have volatile prices. Therefore, a liquid equities market must be large enough to allow for frequent market clearing (trading).

In examining the liquidity effects of stock splits, Copeland (1979) finds that there is an increase in the number of owners providing for a wider market. However, trading volume is proportionately lower after the split, brokerage revenues proportionately higher, and bid-ask spreads are higher as a percentage of the bid price.

These factors suggest lower liquidity after the stock split. Copeland concludes that the larger number of owners is more than offset by other factors resulting in an overall reduction in liquidity. Ohlson and Penman (1985) also find that stock splits result in lower liquidity and higher return variances. These findings are inconsistent with the argument that firms lower share prices to increase liquidity.

Brennan and Hughes (1991) provide an alternative theory to the 'liquidity' argument. Managers with good private information want independent third parties to produce information about the firm. Independent parties such as brokers avoid the moral hazard problems associated with direct payment to information producers for certification. Brokers are compensated for their effort by brokerage commissions. Brokers compare the cost of gathering the information necessary to issue an earnings forecast with the commission revenue it will produce for the firm. Coler and Schaefer (1988) find that full service brokerage commissions charged as a proportion of the trade are negatively related to share price. Therefore, lower share prices result in higher full service brokerage commissions thereby compensating brokers for their research expenditures.

Brennan and Hughes (1991) examine the relation between share price and analyst following for the period of 1976 through 1987. A total of 13,285 observations is obtained for firms listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), American Stock Exchange (AMEX), and National Association of Security Dealers Automated Quotation Systems (NASDAQ). They find that after controlling for

firm size, the number of analysts following a firm is negatively related to share price.

Brennan and Hughes' empirical research establishes that there is a negative relationship between analyst following and share price. However, it is not known whether firms maintain certain share prices or reduce share prices for strategic purposes. The liquidity argument states that firms maintain share prices within an optimal price range which insures liquidity.

Alternatively, Brennan and Hughes (1991) suggest that firms reduce share prices for strategic purposes when they want additional analyst attention.

Theoretical research shows that the amount of publicly available information is an important factor in determining the viability of public debt (Fama 1985; Diamond 1991). Therefore, Brennan and Hughes' (1991) theory would imply that firms relying on public financing may seek the attention of analysts by lowering share prices. However, "it is costly for a firm to reduce its share price by splitting because the structure of brokerage commissions makes it more costly to trade in low priced shares" (Brennan and Hughes 1991, 1665). Therefore, firms receiving banks' information gathering and monitoring services via bank loans may

decide not to incur the cost of attracting additional analyst attention.

Presentations to New York Society of Securities Analysts

An additional method of attracting analysts' attention is through direct contact. The SEC has mandated minimum disclosure standards. However, beyond the minimum requirements firms are allowed considerable latitude in choosing how much to disclose and the venue.

Lang and Lundholm (1993) examine cross-sectional determinants of analyst ratings of corporate disclosures. Their study is based on the Report of the Financial Analysts Federation Corporate Information Committee (FAF Reports) which rates three main corporate disclosures: published annual information, other published information, and investor (analyst) relations. These reports are prepared by subcommittees comprising of the leading analysts covering the industry to which a firm belongs. The average committee size is thirteen. Lang and Lundholm (1993, 254) note that "a casual comparison of the analysts included on the subcommittees with those selected for the Institutional Investor All-American Research Team suggests a substantial overlap." Their findings demonstrate that of the three categories of disclosure examined by the FAF Reports ratings for

the investor relations category varied the most.

Published annual information varied the least. These results indicate that "firms can more clearly differentiate their investor relations efforts than their annual report disclosures, perhaps because the former permit more discretion" (Lang and Lundholm 1993, 257). One of the primary considerations in the investor relations rating is the frequency and content of presentations to analysts.

Discussions with a former Vice President in charge of investor relations at a major bank indicate that analyst coverage of a firm often begins when the firm contacts analysts covering their firm's industry.

Analysts are given access to information not available to the public, but within legal guidelines. Because brokerage firms earn more commissions on firms they can sell to the public, analysts look for firms they think will do well.

The largest firms make regularly scheduled presentations to analyst associations. Other firms may be invited to make a presentation if they have made a favorable impression on an analyst. Presentations may be made to specific brokerage firms, local or regional analyst associations, or the New York Analyst

Federation. The most prestigious meeting of analysts is the New York Society of Securities Analysts (NYSSA).

Senior company officials speak at presentations to the NYSSA. Of the 1,141 presentations listed in the NYSSA calendar for the period from January 1986 to December 1992, 99 percent were made by the corporate chief executive officer (CEO), chairman, or president.

Walmsley, Yadav, and Rees (1992, 572) note that presentations are "the formal, publicly acknowledged end of a spectrum of possible contacts between corporate management and the investment community." Generally, firms that present in New York have already done so at the local or regional level. Consequently, the information in the New York presentations is not new. In fact, interviews with Fortune 500 executives by Sundaram, Ogden, and Walker (1993) indicate that executives specifically refrain from releasing new information at these meetings in order to avoid violating Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act. However, the audience at NYSSA presentations is different. Analysts often invite big investors to attend.

There is empirical evidence that the market responds to NYSSA presentations. Sundaram, Ogden, and

Walker (1993) examine market response to 1,502 corporate presentations to the NYSSA for the period from 1984 through 1990. Significant positive abnormal returns are observed on the day of and the day after a firm's presentation to the New York Society of Security Analysts. The authors note that firms are often recommended by analysts in the weeks following their NYSSA presentations. Firm returns for presentations made to Financial Analysts Federation societies outside of New York are not significant.

Summary

Chapter Two discusses research relevant to this study. The review covered the following areas: 1) loan announcement studies, 2) analyst following studies, 3) reputation research, 4) firm share price literature, and 5) research on the effects of presentations to the New York Society of Security Analysts.

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH METHOD

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the research methodology used in this study. Section one discusses the research questions and associated hypotheses. Data sources and collection methods are described in section two. Sections three through six describes the statistical methodology employed for each of the four hypotheses. The final section describes the statistical tests of the combined hypotheses.

Statements of Hypotheses

Hypotheses one and two examine the first research question: Does analyst following affect market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone?

- Hol: Analyst following does not reduce market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone.
- Hal: Analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone.
- Ho2: Higher reputation brokerage and analyst following does not reduce market response to

- loan announcements more than lower reputation brokerage and analyst following.
- Ha2: Higher reputation brokerage and analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements more than lower reputation brokerage and analyst following.

Hypotheses three and four examine the second research question: Do firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans?

- Ho3: The share prices of firms receiving bank loans are equal to or less than share prices of firms not announcing bank loans.
- Ha3: Share prices of firms receiving bank loans are higher than share prices of firms not announcing bank loans.
- Ho4: The number of presentations made to the New York Society of Securities Analysts by firms receiving bank loans is equal to or greater than the number of presentations made by firms not announcing bank loans.
- Ha4: The number of presentations made to the New York Society of Securities Analysts by firms receiving bank loans is lower than the number of presentations made by firms not announcing bank loans.

Sample Data

The sample of bank loan announcements was obtained by searching the *Dow Jones News Service* for the period 1987 through 1992 for announcements of bank loan agreements. This database provides in-depth coverage of companies, industry, and the stock market. In addition to

providing the full text of the loan announcement, the Dow Jones News Service gives the date and time the story appeared on the wire. This information provides for a precise assessment of the announcement date.

A number of firm announcements have been found to affect stock prices, including earnings-related announcements, dividend declarations, investment decisions, and lawsuit announcements. Therefore, the Wall Street Journal Index was searched for other firm announcements. Firms were retained if there were no other major firm announcements in the five-day period surrounding the loan announcement.

Loans are classified as initial loans, favorable renewals, or unfavorable renewals on the basis of information contained in the announcement. Loan agreements are classified as initial if the announcement indicates it is new (or does not indicate it is a renewal) and a search of the borrower's Form 10-K confirms that it is not a revision of an existing bank loan. Unfavorable loan renewals include cancellations, reductions in lending limits, or a tightening of loan restrictions. The LEXIS/NEXIS database was used to obtain 10-K information.

Daily return data and share prices was obtained from the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) tapes. The proxy for the market is the CRSP equally-weighted market portfolio, including all distributions. According to portfolio theory the market portfolio contains each single risky asset "in proportion to the total market value of that asset relative to the total value of all other assets" (Haugen 1990, 56). However, in comparing the value weighted index and the equally weighted index Brown and Warner (1980) find that under a variety of methods the equally weighted index is more likely to detect abnormal performance than the value weighted index. Peterson (1989, 60) explains that "the reason the equally-weighted index is superior is due to the use of equal-weighing of securities in the aggregation of security returns." Therefore, there is a greater degree of correlation between the equally-weighted index and security returns and greater precision in the estimated parameters.

Various proxies for firm size have been used in research. Foster (1986) examines the correlations and comovements between the following three measures: total assets, sales, and market capitalization. Market capitalization is obtained by multiplying share price by

the number of outstanding shares of the firm. He finds that the correlation of market capitalization with total assets and sales is .86 and .87 respectively. However, the agreement in sign of annual change (comovement) of market capitalization with total assets and sales is only .68 and .67. In theory the market value of common stock is based on the discounted value of expected dividends throughout the life of the firm. Therefore, market capitalization includes market expectations of the firm's future growth. Expectations are not included in either the total assets or sales measures of firm size. This market expectation component of the market capitalization measure may account for the relatively low comovement of this variable with the other firm size proxies. Therefore, to avoid redundancy in the independent variables the measure for firm size is total assets. Share price is already included in the study as an independent variable of interest. Total asset information to compute firm size was obtained from the COMPUSTAT file. For sample firms not included on either the current or the research file of COMPUSTAT total firm assets was obtained from Standards and Poors.

The first and second hypotheses examine the affects of analyst following and reputation on market response to

bank loan announcements. The number of analysts following a particular firm was obtained from Nelson Directory of Investment Research. Volume one of the directory covers United States companies and is arranged in seven sections, the largest of which is section two. The data in section two usually includes the firm's ticker symbol, exchange, lines of business, institutional holdings, number of shareholders, shares outstanding, key executives, and market value. Analyst coverage is also provided, including an analyst's name, research firm affiliation, and phone number. "Listings include all public companies headquartered in the United States with research coverage by at least one security analyst" (Nelson's, 1988, p. 107). Bhushan (1989) uses this source in examining firm characteristics and analyst following. The main advantage is that the annual listing provides an accurate count of the number of analysts following a firm.

Reputation is measured by inclusion on the Institutional Investor's annual All-American Research Team. Every October the Institutional Investor journal publishes a ranking of more than 400 U.S. analysts in 34 firms that "have done the most outstanding work during the past year" (Daniells 1993 p.185). The leading analyst

in each industry and speciality area are referred to as the All American Research Team One. The list is constructed by sending a questionnaire to the director of research of approximately 800 money management organizations and to other managers regarded as important to clients of brokerage firms who rate analysts on stock selection, earnings estimates, service and accessibility, and written reports. Institutional Investor reporters then spend about two months going back to the institutions to solicit both positive and negative comments. Final ranking is then made (Institutional Investor, 1988). For the sample period of this study the number of analysts on the All-American Research Team One ranged from a low of 59 in 1987 to 70 in 1991.

In addition to the All-American Research Team One, the magazine publishes the names and brokerage affiliations of the second, third, and fourth place analysts for each industry and speciality group. The number of analysts in these categories is approximately 350 per year. In this study, the second, third, and fourth place analysts following a sample firm are classified as high reputation analysts (RAF).

The names of each analyst covering a firm in the year of the loan announcement are compared with the

Institutional Investor rankings of analysts for that year. The number of analysts, high reputation analysts, and team one All-American analysts are then computed.

Since, Nelson's Directory and the Institutional

Investor's All-American listings contain information for the preceding year analyst following and reputation for 1987 loan announcements are based on the 1988 listings.

The same procedure is used for the other sample years.

The Institutional Investor also ranks brokerages by the number of individual analysts on any of the four teams as a percentage of the firm's total number of analysts. For this study, brokerages with 20% or more of their analysts earning places on one of the teams are classified as high reputation brokerages (RB). There are approximately twenty brokerages per year that meet this criterion. Eighteen brokerages had 20% or more of their analysts on one of the teams for all six years of the sample period.

As stated in the literature review, evidence indicates that the industry to which a firm belongs influences a number of events including market response to earning announcements (Bhushan 1989b) and analyst following (Bhushan 1989a; Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros 1989). Therefore, the control sample for tests of

hypotheses three and four consist of firms within the same industry that do not announce receiving a bank loan. Control firms are obtained from COMPUSTAT and include all firms with the same two digit SIC code as sample firms. Share price and total asset information on the control firms are also obtained from COMPUSTAT.

The fourth hypothesis examines the number of presentations made by sample firms to the New York Society of Security Analysts (NYSSA) versus the number of presentations made by other firms in the same industry. The number of presentations made by both sample firms and control firms for the sample period was obtained by searching the NYSSA calendar for the company name. There are 238 sample firms and 2,413 control firms. The calendar which contains the names and dates of firms making presentations was obtained from the NYSSA for the period from 1986 to 1992.

Abnormal Return Calculations

Standard event study methodology is used to determine share price response to bank loan announcements. The total sample of bank loan announcements is then disaggregated to find market response to initial loans, favorable renewals, and unfavorable renewals.

Daily return data is collected for 155 days beginning at day -150 and ending at day +4. The estimation period includes returns for days -150 to -10. Daily returns for individual securities substantially depart from normality. However, Brown and Warner (1984, p. 213) note that "the mean excess return in a crosssection of securities converges to normality as the number of sample securities increases." Simulations results obtained by Brown and Warner indicate that standard parametric tests for significance of mean excess returns are well-specified.

The market model is used to calculate expected returns for individual firms. The market model takes into consideration both market-wide factors and the systematic risk of each sample security.

$$R_{ne} = \alpha_i + \beta_i R_{me} + \epsilon_{ie}$$
 (1)

where: R_{jt} = return on security j on day t; R_{mt} = CRSP equally-weighted index of returns on AMEX and NYSE stocks on day t; α_{j} = the market model intercept term,

 α_{j} = the market model intercept term, β_{j} = the market model slope estimated by ordinary least squares regression; ϵ_{jt} = a random error term.

The abnormal return for firm j on day t is calculated as follows:

$$AR_{jt} = R_{jt} - \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j} R_{mt}$$
 (2)

where: AR_{1t} = abnormal return on security j on day t;

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{jt}} &= \mathrm{return} \ \mathrm{on} \ \mathrm{security} \ \mathrm{j} \ \mathrm{on} \ \mathrm{day} \ \mathrm{t}; \\ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{\mathrm{j}} &= \mathrm{the} \ \mathrm{market} \ \mathrm{model} \ \mathrm{intercept} \ \mathrm{term}; \\ \boldsymbol{\beta}_{\mathrm{j}} &= \mathrm{the} \ \mathrm{market} \ \mathrm{model} \ \mathrm{slope} \ \mathrm{estimated} \ \mathrm{by} \\ & \mathrm{ordinary} \ \mathrm{least} \ \mathrm{squares} \ \mathrm{regression}; \\ \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{mt}} &= \mathrm{CRSP} \ \mathrm{equally-weighted} \ \mathrm{index} \ \mathrm{of} \ \mathrm{returns} \\ & \mathrm{on} \ \mathrm{AMEX} \ \mathrm{and} \ \mathrm{NYSE} \ \mathrm{stocks} \ \mathrm{on} \ \mathrm{day} \ \mathrm{t}. \end{array}$

Brown and Warner (1985) find that tests continue to be well-specified as the event period is lengthened, but that the power of these tests decreases dramatically. In order to maintain the power of the statistical tests employed, the shortest possible event period is used. Peterson (1989) notes that obtaining the date of news releases does not indicate whether the market receives the information during trading hours unless the time of the news releases are also obtained. If news is released after trading hours, market response will occur on the day following the announcement. Therefore, the announcement day is the date the Dow Jones News Service reports the announcement or the next trading day if the announcement is made after the close of trading for the particular exchange. The announcement day is defined as day 0.

Tests of significance of the abnormal returns are based on standardized abnormal returns. The one-day standardized abnormal return for firm j is calculated as follows:

$$SAR_{j} = \Sigma (AR_{jt}/s_{j})$$
 (3)

where: SAR_j standardarized abnormal return for firm j; s_j = the standard error of the estimation period; AR_{jt} = abnormal return on security j on day t.

Portfolios are then formed based on the type of loan announcement. The average standardized abnormal return for the portfolio is defined as follows:

ASAR = $1/N \Sigma (SAR_j)$ for j=1 to N (4) Assuming the individual abnormal returns are cross-sectionally independent and normally distributed, the following t-statistic can be computed:

t = square root of N times ASAR.

The expected values of SAR and ASAR are positive for initial bank loans and favorable renewals, negative for unfavorable renewals and cancellations. To control for this difference in total sample tests that include both favorable and unfavorable loan announcements, whenever an announcement is for a cancellation or an unfavorable bank loan revision, the control variables are multiplied by negative one.

One-day abnormal returns are calculated for the entire sample and the sample disaggregated by size, loan type, exchange, time on CRSP files, one-digit SIC code, security, structure of the agreement, loan maturity, and the number of participating banks.

Tests of Hypothesis One

Hypothesis one examines whether analyst and brokerage following reduces market reaction to bank loan announcements. The first test of this hypothesis employed the following univariate regression analysis:

$$SAR_{j} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}(\# analysts_{j}) + \epsilon_{j}$$
 (6)

Where:

SAR; = the standardized abnormal return of firm j calculated above; # analysts; = the number of analysts following firm j; ϵ_{j} = a random error term.

The total sample of bank loan announcements is then disaggragated based on whether the loan is an initial loan, a favorable renewal, or an unfavorable renewal. Separate regressions are run for each portfolio. Similar regressions are run for the number of brokerages following a firm. The number of analysts and brokerages researching a company was obtained from Nelson's Directory of Investment Research in the year of the loan announcement. A significant negative coefficient would indicate that increased analyst and brokerage following decreases market response to bank loan announcements. Under the null hypothesis the coefficient is expected to be insignificant.

Next, multivariate regressions are conducted for the total sample of bank loan announcements and each

portfolio separately to determine the relative
explanatory power of analyst following and firm size on
market response to the bank loan announcements.

Multivariate regressions also test the relative
explanatory power of brokerage following and firm size.

 $SAR_{j} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}(lnsize_{j}) + \beta_{2}(\# analysts_{j}) + \epsilon_{j}$ (7) Where: $SAR_{j} = the standardized abnormal return of firm j calculated above; <math display="block">lnsize_{j} = the natural logarithm of firm j total assets; \\ \# analysts_{j} = the number of analysts \\ researching firm j; \\ \epsilon_{j} = a random error term.$

Foster (1986) notes that the distribution for the variable firm size is fat tailed and shows evidence of substantial positive skewness. This departure from normality makes a transformation of the data necessary. The commonly used natural logarithmic transformation for a positively skewed distribution is used. Type II sum of squares is obtained for this regression equation. The SAS Type II sum of squares corresponds to the partial sums of squares in which each effect is adjusted for all other effects possible (SAS, 1992). The partial R squared obtained indicates the additional impact of each variable beyond that portion of the variance explained by the other variable.

Tests of Hypothesis Two

The second hypothesis examines whether the reputation of analysts and brokerages following a firm influences market reaction to the loan announcements. The first test of this hypothesis employs the following univariate regression analysis:

```
SAR_{j} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}(\# All-American Analysts_{j}) + \epsilon_{j} \qquad (6) Where: SAR_{j} = \text{the standardized abnormal return of }  firm j calculated above; \# \text{ analysts}_{j} = \text{the number of analysts following firm j;} \epsilon_{j} = \text{a random error term.}
```

Univariate regressions are also used to test the following independent variables: number of high reputation analysts (RAF), number or brokerages following a firm (B), and the number of high reputation brokerages following a firm (RB). Initial loans and favorable renewals form one portfolio while unfavorable renewals and terminations of loans form the second. The portfolios are then disaggragated based on firm size. Separate regressions will be run for each portfolio of loan type by firm size.

The final tests of the reputation hypothesis examine the effect of the proportion of analysts and brokerages following a firm and the percent of high reputation analysts, All-American Team One analysts, and high

reputation brokerages on market reaction to bank loan announcements. The variables are calculated as follows: Proportion of analyst following:

(PAF) = the number of analysts following a firm
the highest case of analyst following +1

Percent of All-American Team One analysts:

(PAAF) = <u>number of All-American Team One Analysts</u> total number of analysts following the firm

Percent of high reputation analysts:

(PRAF) = <u>number of high reputation analysts</u> total number of analysts following the firm

Proportion of brokerage following:

(PB) = the number of brokerages following a firm the highest case of brokerage following +1

Percent of high reputation brokerages:

(PRB) = number of high reputation brokerages total number of brokerages following the firm

The following univariate regression is used for all the above variables:

$$SAR_j = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (PAF_j) + \epsilon_j$$

Where:

PAF; = the number of All-American analysts researching firm j;

 ϵ_i = a random error term.

Again, the regressions are run for portfolios based on bank loan classification and firm size.

Tests of Hypothesis Three

Hypothesis three examines whether firms receiving bank loans have higher share prices than firms not announcing bank loans. This hypothesis is tested using the following regression.

 $P_{j} = \beta_{c_{j}} + \beta_{1}(lnsize_{j}) + \beta_{2}(firm \ type_{j}) + \epsilon_{j} \qquad (9)$ Where: $P_{j} = the \ share \ price \ of \ firm \ j \ at \ the \ time \ of \ the \ loan \ announcement \ for \ sample \ firms \ and \ the \ mean \ share \ price \ over \ the \ sample \ period \ for \ other \ industry \ firms;$ $lnsize_{j} = the \ natural \ logarithm \ of \ total \ firm \ assets;$ $firm \ type_{j} = 0 \ for \ industry \ control \ firms \ and \ 1 \ for \ firms \ receiving \ bank \ loans;$ $\epsilon_{j} = a \ random \ error \ term.$

Share prices for sample firms are for the day of the loan announcement. Share price for control firms is calculated as the mean share price obtained from COMPUSTAT files over the sample period.

Brennan and Hughes (1991, p. 1677) suggest that "a smaller firm must choose a lower share price in order to gain the same analysts following as a larger firm." To control for this firm size effect a size variable is included in the model. The natural logarithm of total firm assets is included as the measure of firm size rather than market capitalization to avoid redundancy in the independent variables.

Total assets of sample firms are measured for the year of the loan announcement. The total asset measure for control firms is the mean firm total assets for the sample period obtained from COMPUSTAT. A separate regression is run for each one digit SIC industry group.

Tests of Hypothesis Four

Hypothesis four examines whether firms receiving bank loans make fewer presentations to the New York Society of Securities Analysts than firms not announcing bank loans. The following regression will be used to test this hypothesis.

$$\#P_j = \beta_{0j} + \beta_1(lnsize_j) + \beta_2(firm type_j) + \epsilon_j$$
 (10)
Where:

size; = the natural logarithm of total firm assets;

Anecdotal evidence suggests that the number of presentations to the NYSSA is also sensitive to firm size. To control for a possible firm size effect a size variable is included in the model. The same total assets measure of firm size that was used for tests of hypothesis three is used in this model. A separate regression is run for each one digit SIC industry group.

The number of presentations made each year to the NYSSA decreased significantly over the sample period.

Table 3-1 indicates the combined number of presentations made by sample firms and control firms for each year.

Table 3-1 Number of presentations to the NYSSA by year

Year	# Presentations
1986	108
1987	105
1988	85
1989	64
1990	84
1991	57
1992	37

Due to the significant decrease in the number of presentations made over the sample period a second test is performed. To facilitate year-to-year comparability restated number of presentations are calculated.

Regressions are then run using the restated number of presentations. First, each firm's annual number of presentations is scaled by the mean number of presentations for the year to obtain the relative number of presentations.

Relative #P = #P / mean(#P)

Next, the relative measure is multiplied by the mean number of presentations for 1989, the mid year of the sample.

Restated $\#P = Relative \#P \times mean(\#P)$

Comprehensive Tests

The final tests combine the various components of hypotheses one through four. A number of studies show that there is a significant difference in market response to public debt issues and bank loan announcements [Mikkelson and Partch (1986) and James (1987)]. Hypotheses three and four test whether firms announcing bank loans have significantly different share prices and number of presentations to the NYSSA as compared to firms in the same industry not announcing bank loans. Stickel (1992) shows that share price influences the number of analysts following a firm. Hypotheses one and two examine whether the number and reputation of analysts following a firm affect market response to bank loan announcements. These relationships are summarized below:

share price number and and NYSSA > reputation > return presentations of analysts

The following regression combines the variables of hypotheses one through four:

$$SAR_{j} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1}(lnsize_{j}) + \beta_{2}(NYSSA_{j}) + \beta_{3}(P_{j}) + \beta_{4}(PAAF_{j})$$
$$+ \beta_{5}(PAF_{j}) + \beta_{6}(PB_{j}) + \epsilon_{j}$$

Where:

SAR, = the standardized abnormal return of firm j;

NYSSA the number of presentations made at the NYSSA during the preceding year; the share price of firm j at the time P_{τ} of the loan announcement; PAAF, the number of All-American analysts following firm j divided by the total number of analysts following the firm; the number of high reputation analysts PRAF. following firm j divided by the total number of analysts following the firm; PAF, the proportion of analysts following firm j; the proportion of brokerages following PB, firm j. the number of high reputation PRB; brokerages following firm j divided by the total number of brokerage following the firm; a random error term. Ε,

The final test combines the variables tested in hypotheses one through four and industry dummy variables with variables banking theory suggests may influence market response to the loan announcement.

Summary

Chapter Three discusses the methods used to answer the research questions: 1) Does analyst following affect market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone? and 2) Do firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans? The method of obtaining the sample and the techniques used to test the hypotheses are discussed.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS

Chapter four reports the analyses and results of the study. The first section discusses sample selection procedures. The second section reports results of the tests of hypotheses. The final section summarizes study results.

Sample Selection

Sample Selection Procedures

To obtain a sample, the *Dow Jones News Service*, also known as the broadtape, is searched for the period 1987-1992 for announcements concerning credit agreements between nonbank corporations and banks. The date, time of the announcement, and full text of the announcement was obtained. Only firms with stock returns on the Center for Research in Security Prices (CRSP) daily files of the New York and American Stock Exchanges and the NASDAQ are included in the sample.

The event date is defined as precisely as possible.

The closing price on the CRSP stock file for a particular

date is the last trading price for that day on the exchange that the security traded last. If a stock trades on both the NYSE and the Pacific Stock Exchange (PACX), and the last trade occurs on the Pacific Stock Exchange, the closing price on that day represents the closing price on the PACX, not the NYSE. CRSP obtains price data for NASDAQ securities directly from the National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD) with the close of the day being at 4:00 Eastern Time (CRSP Stock File Guide, 1991). For this study the announcement day is defined as the date the Dow Jones News Service reports the announcement or the next trading day if the announcement is made after the close of trading for the particular exchange. The announcement day is noted as day 0.

The Wall Street Journal Index (WSJ) was searched for other major corporate announcements around the time of the bank loan announcement. Observations are deleted from the sample if other news announcements are reported on the day of the bank loan announcement or two days before or after the announcement.

Sample Selection Results

The *Dow Jones News Service* search produced a sample of 765 announcements. Of this sample 378 had return data on CRSP and were uncontaminated by other major news. Fifty

of these were loans by banks to other financial institutions or public utilities, leaving a final sample of 328. A search of the borrowing firms' annual reports indicates that there are 158 new loans, 116 favorable renewals or revisions of existing credit agreements, 46 unfavorable renewals or revisions, and 8 cancellations.

Characteristics of the Sample Firms

Table 4-1 reports descriptive statistics for the full sample and portfolios disaggragated by size for the following firm characteristics: total firm assets, size of credit agreement, maturity of agreement, and the number of participating banks. Firms are classified as small if total firm assets are in the bottom third of all firms listed on the NYSE and OTC COMPUSTAT files ranked according to total assets. Firms are classified as large if they are in the upper third of the COMPUSTAT firms and medium if they are within the middle third.

Table 4-2 presents descriptive statistics for analyst following, number of high reputation analysts, number of All-American First Team analysts, brokerage following, and the number of high reputation brokerages disaggragated according to firm size. The mean number of analysts following a firm is 4.9 for the total sample. The mean is 1.5, 4.7, and 15.9 for small, medium, and large firms

Table 4-1

Descriptive statistics for total firm assets, loan agreement amount, maturity of agreement and number of participating banks for the full sample and portfolios dissagregated according to firm size for 328 uncontaminated bank loan announcements.

Variable	N	Mean	Standard Deviation	Range		nge
Total assets (\$ mill	ions)					
full sample	328	817	4218	2	- 6	5,219
small firms ^a	183	32	22	2	-	87
medium firms ^a	86	191	101	58	-	481
large firms ^a	59	4163	9294	335	- 6	5,219
Loan amount (\$ milli	ons)					
full sample	318	67	127	1	_	850
small firms ^a	177	14	21	1	-	235
medium firms ^a	84	75	104	2	_	850
large firms ^a	57	221	202	2	-	820
Maturity (years)						
full sample	230	2.9	2.3	1	_	15
small firms ^a	125	2.3	1.7	1	_	10
medium firms ^a	66	3.2	2.2	1	-	10
large firms ^a	39	4.3	3.3	1	-	15
No. of participating	banks	: ^b				
full sample	280	2.9	5.6	1	_	63
small firms ^a	172	1.3	. 6	1	-	4
medium firmsa	73	2.6	2.1	1	-	9
large firms ^a	35	11.8	12.6	1	-	63

^a Firms are classified as small if total firm assets are in the bottom third of all firms listed on the NYSE and OTC COMPUSTAT files ranked according to total assets. Firms are classified as large if they are in the upper third of the COMPUSTAT firms and medium if they are within the middle third.

^b Firms receiving a loan from a group of banks often list only the lead bank in the 10-K.

Table 4-2

Descriptive statistics for analyst following, number of high reputation analysts, number of All-American analysts, brokerage following, and the number of high reputation brokerages disaggragated according to firm size for 328 uncontaminated bank loan announcements.

Variable	N	Mean	Standard Deviation	Range		
Analyst following:			·			
full sample	328	4.9	7.3	0	-	47
small firms ^a	183	1.5	2.1	0	-	9
medium firmsa	86	4.7	4.6	0	-	20
large firms ^a	59	15.9	10.1	0	-	47
High Reputation anal	yst fo	ollowing:				
full sample	328	. 92	1.95	0	-	11
small firms ^a	183	.11	.47	0	-	4
medium firms ^a	86	.70	1.14	0	-	5
large firms ^a	59	3.75	2.92	0	-	11
Team 1 All-American	Analys	sts:				
full sample	328	.10	.34	0	-	2
small firms ^a	183	.02	.14	0	-	1
medium firms ^a	86	.09	.33	0	-	2
large firms ^a	59	.37	.58	0	-	2
Brokerage following:	:					
full sample	328	4.41	6.39	0	-	38
small firmsa	183	1.42	1.91	0	-	10
medium firms ^a	86	4.23	4.13	0	-	19
large firms ^a	59	13.93	8.57	0	-	38
High Reputation brok	erage	following:				
full sample	328	1.42	2.72	0	-	14
small firms ^a	183	.19	.52	0	-	3
medium firms ^a	86	1.20	1.87	0	-	8
large firms ^a	59	5.53	3.71	0	-	14

^a Firms are classified as small if total firm assets are in the bottom third of all firms listed on the NYSE and OTC COMPUSTAT files ranked according to total assets. Firms are classified as large if they are in the upper third of the COMPUSTAT firms and medium if they are within the middle third.

respectively indicating a strong correlation between firm size and analyst following. However, the range of analyst following demonstrates that there are large firms with no following and small firms receiving considerable analyst attention. The mean number of brokerages following the firms is similar to the mean number of analysts indicating that brokerages usually have only one analyst following a firm.

Table 4-3 contains the one-day abnormal returns for the entire sample and the sample disaggragated by size and loan type. As expected, small firms experienced a larger market reaction to loan announcements than medium or large firms. Neither the medium nor the large firms experienced a significant market response for the full sample of loan announcements. When disaggragated according to loan type new loans and favorable renewals both experienced significantly positive abnormal returns for every size group while unfavorable renewals and terminations experienced significantly negative abnormal returns.

Previous research indicates that firm size and loan type may be the main explanatory factors in the market response to loan announcements (Lummer and McConnell, 1989; Slovin, Johnson, and Glascock, 1992). However, firms and loans differ on a number of dimensions. Table 4-4

Table 4-3

Average one-day announcement period excess returns for the full uncontaminated sample of 328 firms.

-	umber of	One-day	z	Percent	
of O Announcement	bservations	excess return	statistic	positive excess returns	
Panel A: Sample Dis	aggregated by	Firm Characte	ristics		
By exchange					
NYSE/AMEX	143	.0123	2.13**	54.5	
NASDAQ	185	.0101	2.62*	47.5	
By time on CRSP fil	es				
Less than 1 y	ear 37	.0201	3.14*	54.1	
More than 1 y	ear 269	.0094	2.45*	51.3	
Removed withi	n 1 yr 22	.0163	0.35	50.0	
By 1-digit SIC code					
1-Mining	26	0013	-0.12	42.3	
2-Manufacturi	ng 33	.0007	0.09	54.5	
3-Manufacturi		.0178	3.01*	56.6	
4-Transportat		.0245	2.58*	65.0	
5-Trade	66	.0139	2.13**	53.0	
7-Services	43	.0049	0.95	34.9	
8-Services	27	.0003	-0.54	48.1	
Panel B: Sample Dis	aggregated by	Loan Characte	ristic		
By Security					
Unsecured	194	.0100	1.34	50.5	
Secured	52	.0062	1.07	59.6	
Security Unkn	own 82	.0166	3.83*	48.8	
By Structure of Agr	eement				
Revolving	282	.0142	4.18*	53.2	
Term	29	.0036	0.04	37.9	
Unknown	17	0280	-2.28**	47.1	
By Maturity of Loan					
1 Year	87	.0049	0.16	47.2	
Over 1 year	142	.0174	4.33*	54.9	
Unknown	99	.0073	1.26	50.5	
By Number of Partic	inating Panks				
1 bank	185	.0158	3.49*	54.6	
2-5 banks	70	.0158	0.86	55.7	
5 or more	64	.0042	0.86	35.9	
Unknown	9	.0314	1.30	66.6	

^{*} significant at the .01 level

^{**} significant at the .05 level

Table 4-4

Average one-day announcement period excess returns for announcements of initial bank loans, favorable renewals, unfavorable renewals, and loan terminations.

	er of	One-day	Z	Percent positive excess returns	
of Obse Announcement	rvations	excess return	statistic		
Panel A: full sample o	f uncontami	nated loans			
All announcements	328	.0111	3.37*	51.5	
By firm size					
small	183	.0161	3.92*	56.8	
medium	86	.0068	0.21	48.8	
large	59	.0017	0.80	38.9	
By loan type					
initial	158	.0201	5.64*	56.9	
favorable renewal	116	.0312	6.12*	60.3	
unfavorable renewal	46	0486	-8.33*	15.2	
terminations	8	1315	-6.79*	25.0	
Panel B: loan announce	ments disag	gragated by	firm size		
Small firms					
initial	89	.0283	5.69*	62.9	
favorable renewal	70	.0370	4.87*	61.4	
unfavorable renewal	18	0637	-5.63*	16.6	
terminations	6	1696	-7.17*	33.3	
Medium firms					
initial	40	.0164	1.61***	52.5	
favorable renewal	28	.0265	3.12*	64.2	
unfavorable renewal	17	0471	-5.87*	17.6	
terminations	1	0114	-0.58	00.0	
Large firms					
initial	29	.0041	1.30***	44.8	
favorable renewal	18	.0161	2.02**	50.0	
unfavorable renewal	11	0262	-2.53*	10.1	
terminations	1	0229	-1.04	0.0	

^{*} significant at the .01 level

^{**} significant at the .05 level

^{***} significant at the .10 level

presents the one-day abnormal returns for the sample disaggregated by various firm and loan characteristics.

Lummer and McConnell (1989, 115) suggest four dimensions on which loans can differ: 1) relative size calculated as loan amount/firm size 2) maturity 3) whether the loan is secured or unsecured and 4) whether the loan is a term loan or a revolving credit agreement. Revolving credit agreements exhibit a significant positive one-day abnormal return while market response to term loans is insignificant. In addition, market response to loans which mature in one year or less is insignificant while loans with maturities longer than one year exhibit significant positive abnormal returns.

Research indicates that the exchange and industry to which a firm belongs are important firm characteristics (Bhushan, 1989a; Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros, 1989).

The sample firms in this study did respond differently according to industry affiliation. Only three SIC classifications experienced significant abnormal returns. The three significant industry groups were manufacturing (which includes the majority of the sample firms), transportation, and trade.

Diamond (1991) contends that there is a "life cycle effect in the use of borrowing through intermediaries. New

borrowers borrow from banks initially but may later issue debt directly" (p. 690). Therefore, firms may differ depending on where they are in the borrowing 'life cycle'. Firms for which there is relatively little public information available would tend to use bank debt. Whether CRSP carries information on a firm is one possible indication of the amount of public information available. Therefore, the length of time CRSP reports information on a firm is examined. Results indicate that firms whose beginning data on the CRSP files is less than one year from the time of the loan announcement experience the largest one-day abnormal returns. These results are consistent with the theory that 'new' firms receive greater benefits from the prestige of receiving a bank loan.

Researchers suggest that monitoring of firms is one of the most important services performed by banks.

Therefore, the number of banks monitoring the firm may also influence market reaction to loan announcements. When sample firms are classified by the number of banks participating in the loan the only group experiencing significant market responses are firms for which there is only one bank.

Results of the Tests of Hypotheses

This section presents the results of the analysis of the research hypotheses. Univariate and multivariate regressions are employed.

Hypothesis One

Hypothesis one examines whether analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone. Table 4-5 presents the results of regressions of standardized excess returns on analyst following, brokerage following, firm size, and combinations of these variables. As noted in Table 4-3 initial loans and favorable renewals exhibit positive abnormal returns at the time of the loan announcement while unfavorable renewals and loan terminations exhibit a negative market response. To control for this difference in the total sample test, whenever the announcement is for an unfavorable renewal or loan cancellation the control variables are multiplied by -1.

Panel A of Table 4-5 indicates that for the entire sample only the size variable is individually significant. When combined, analyst following and firm size are both insignificant and the sign on the coefficient of analyst following becomes negative.

Table 4-5

Results of regressions of standardized excess returns on analyst following, brokerage following and firm size for the whole sample (probability and partial R2 in parentheses).

	Analyst Following	Brokerage Following	Ln(Firm Size)	Intercept	Adj R2	F
Panel (1)	A: Total Sa -0.0142 (.1659)	mpleª		0.7185	.0028	1.928
(2)		-0.0189 (.1100)		0.7314 (.0010)	.0048	2.568 (.110)
(3)			-0.0845 (.0413)	1.0237 (.0001)	.0097	4.200 (.0413)
(4)	0.0049 (.7584)		1002 (.1267)	1.0684 (.0001)	.0069	2.140 (.1193)
(5)		-0.0005 (.9792)	-0.0832 (.2050)	1.0200 (.0001)	.0066	2.09 (.1250)
Panel (1)	B: Favorabl -0.1476 (.1678)	e Renewal an	d New Loa	0.5713 (.0001)	.0033	1.913
(2)		-0.0184 (.1324)		0.5799 (.0001)	.0047	2.278 (.1324)
(3)			-0.0581 (.1664)	0.7551 (.0002)	.0034	1.926 (.166)
(4)	-0.0082 (.6336)		-0.0330 (.6244)	0.6844 (.0061)	.0005	1.074 (.343)
(5)		-1.0133 (.4999)	-0.0222 (.7428)	0.6555 (.0086)	.0014	1.189
Panel (1)	C: Unfavora 0.0172 (.5124)	ble renewals	and loan	terminations -1.495 (.0001)	-	0.435
(2)		0.0226 (.4666)		-1.5054 (.0001)	-	0.538 (.467)
(3)			0.2278 (.0479)	-2.4657 (.0001)	.0553	4.105 (.048)
(4)	-0.0504 (.1936)		0.3987 (.0238)	-2.9916 (.0001)	.0685	2.949 (.062)
(5)		-0.0526 (.2493)	0.3768 (.0311)	-2.9215 (.0001)	.0618	2.746 (.074)

^a For tests involving the total sample of firms whenever an announcement is unfavorable the control variables are multiplied by negative one.

Similar results are obtained when brokerage following and firm size are combined in a model.

Panel B of Table 4-5 presents the results of regressions for the sample of favorable renewals and initial loans. For this sample brokerage following achieves the highest level of significance at .13. When combined, the significance of both analyst following and firm size decrease greatly while the coefficients on both variables remain negative. The same results are observed with brokerage following and firm size. These results differ from previous studies where firm size has been found to be significant. However, studies that have found a significant size effect for portfolios of favorable loan announcements have used the market capitalization measure.

Results of regressions for the sample of unfavorable renewals and loan terminations are given in Panel C of Table 4-5. Results indicate that firm size is the only individually significant variable. However, when either analyst following or brokerage following is included with the size variable the adjusted R² of the model increases. The analyst and brokerage following coefficients are negative while the firm size coefficient is positive.

Decreases in the probability of both firm size and analyst following in the combined models indicates that the firm size and analyst following measures are somewhat redundant. However, increase in the R² of some models demonstrates that there is an analyst following effect beyond that associated with firm size alone. The analyst and brokerage following effect is shown more clearly in the next section where firms are disaggregated according to firm size.

Hypothesis Two

The second hypothesis examines whether the reputation of the analysts and brokerages following a firm influence market response to bank loan announcements. Table 4-6 compares the results of regressions of standardized abnormal returns on the proportion of analyst and brokerage following with various measures of reputation. Results indicate that while analyst and brokerage following is insignificant for the sample as a whole, the reputation variables are significant.

The total sample is then divided into portfolios of favorable or unfavorable loan announcements. Table 4-7 presents results of regressions of standardized abnormal returns on various measures of analyst and brokerage

Table 4-6

Results of regressions of standardized excess returns on various reputation variables for the TOTAL LOAN SAMPLE of favorable and unfavorable bank loan announcements. (Probability in parentheses).

Variable	Intercept	Coefficient	Adjusted R ²					
Panel A: Analysts								
Proportion Analyst (PAF)	0.71852 (.0001)	-0.68253 (.1659)	.0028					
Percent of high reputation analysts (PRAF)	0.74186 (.0001)	-1.15470 (.0130)	.0158					
Percent of All- American Team 1 analysts (PAAF)	0.66999	-1.97630 (.0908)	.0057					
Panel B: Brokera	ages							
Proportion Brokerages (PB)	0.73139 (.0001)	-0.73767 (.1100)	.0048					
Percent high reputation brokerages (PRB)	0.74202 (.0001)	-0.61090 (.0520)	.0085					

Table 4-7

Results of regressions of standardized excess returns on various variables for INITIAL LOANS and FAVORABLE RENEWALS.

Indep	endent Variables	Full Sample (273)	Small Firms (158)	Medium Firms (67)	Large Firms (46)
Ln(fi	rm size) Probability Adjusted R2	0581 (.166)	0801 (.552)	.3386 (.211)	0072 (.953)
Analy	st Following (AF) Probability Adjusted R2	0147 (.167)	0136 (.784) -	0618 (.033) (.052)	.0102 (.521)
Reput	able Analysts (RA) Probability Adjusted R2	0484 (.206)	2143 (.308)	1652 (.135) (.018)	.0264 (.602) -
Team	1 All-Americans(AA Probability Adjusted R2)0842 (.688)	775 (.254) -	283 (.458) -	.3443 (.136) (.027)
Broke	rage Following (B) Probability Adjusted R2	0184 (.132)	0212 (.698) -	0728 (.023) (.062)	.0115 (.539) -
Reput	able Brokerages(RB Probability Adjusted R2)0321 (.243) -	1393 (.484) -	1085 (.141) -	.0309 (.439) -
PAF	Proportion AF Probability Adjusted R2	0.7086 (.168) -	0.6549 (.784) -	2.9668 (.033) (.052)	-0.4909 (.521) -
PRAF	(RA/AF) Probability Adjusted R2	-0.9214 (.038) (.012)	-1.4858 (.081) (.013)	-0.5192 (.475) -	0.0897 (.921) -
PAAF	(AA/AF) Probability Adjusted R2	-1.6050 (.126) (.005)	-1.9392 (.131) (.008)	-0.9127 (.732) -	2.4022 (.459) -
PB	Proportion B Probability Adjusted R2	-0.7173 (.132) (.005)	-0.8296 (.698) -	-2.8422 (.023) (.062)	0.4493 (.539) -
PRB	(RB/B) Probability Adjusted R2	-0.5152 (.091) (.007)	-0.6611 (.253)	-0.3149 (.530)	0.2319 (.759)

^{*} Firms are classified as small if total firm assets are in the bottom third of all firms listed on the NYSE and OTC COMPUSTAT files ranked according to total assets. Firms are classified as large if they are in the upper third of the COMPUSTAT firms and medium if they are within the middle third.

following and reputation for the full sample of initial loans and favorable renewals and for portfolios based on firm size. Panel A provides regression results based on the number and reputation of analysts and brokerages following a firm. Panel B contains the results of regressions based on proportion and percentage variables of analyst and brokerage following. Medium size firms are the only group where analyst and brokerage following explains a significant portion of market response to the loan announcement. For favorable renewals and new loan announcements by medium size firms results indicate a significant negative relationship between market response and either the number of analysts or the number of brokerages following the firm.

Again, results presented in Panel B indicate that there is a significant negative relationship between market response and the proportion of analyst and brokerage following for medium size firms. In addition, market response to favorable loan announcements by small firms is significantly reduced as the percentage of high reputation analysts and All-American Team One analysts increases. None of the variables are significant for large firms. Therefore, results indicate that analyst and

brokerage reputation may be more important to small firms than either medium or large firms.

Table 4-8 presents the results of regressions of standardized abnormal returns on various measures of analyst and brokerage reputation for the sample of unfavorable renewals and loan terminations. The only significant variable for this portfolio is firm size. The insignificance of analyst and brokerage following for this portfolio of loans may be partially due to the practice of sell-side analysts to follow and comment on firms that are doing well.

Hypothesis Three

The third hypothesis examines whether share prices of firms receiving bank loans are significantly higher than share prices of firms not announcing bank loans after controlling for firm size. Table 4-9 presents descriptive statistics for share prices and total firm assets by one-digit SIC codes. Most of the sample firms have a one-digit SIC code of three. As expected, there is considerable variation in the mean share prices of the various industry groups.

Table 4-10 presents the results of regressions of share price on the natural logarithm of total firm assets and a dummy variable indicating if the firm announced

Table 4-8
Results of regressions of standardized excess returns on various variables for UNFAVORABLE RENEWALS and TERMINATIONS of BANK LOANS.

			 	
Independent Variables	Full	Small	Medium	Large
	Sample	Firms	Firms	Firms
	(53)	(23)	(17)	(11)
Ln(firm size) Probability Adjusted R2	.2278 (.047) .055	.708 (.146)	.522 (.407) -	117 (.253)
Analyst Following (AF)	0171	.205	062	009
Probability	(.512)	(.456)	(.393)	(.294)
Adjusted R2	-	-	-	-
Reputable Analysts (RA)	.0788	.659	056	043
Probability	(.510)	(.784)	(.890)	(.253)
Adjusted R2	-	-	-	-
Team 1 All-Americans(AA Probability Adjusted R2	.) .792 (.346) -	a	1.034 (.515)	.047 (.857) -
Brokerage Following (B)	.022	.223	052	011
Probability	(.466)	(.479)	(.558)	(.314)
Adjusted R2	-	-	-	-
Reputable Brokerages(RE	(.601)	.579	118	0329
Probability		(.569)	(.500)	(.266)
Adjusted R2		-	-	-

There were no small firms receiving an unfavorable renewal or termination that were followed by a Team-1 All-American analyst.

None of the variables PAF, PRAF, PAAF, PB, or PRB were significant for the sample as a whole or disaggregated according to firm size.

Firms are classified as small if total firm assets are in the bottom third of all firms listed on the NYSE and OTC COMPUSTAT files ranked according to total assets. Firms are classified as large if they are in the upper third of the COMPUSTAT firms and medium if they are within the middle third.

Table 4-9

Descriptive Statistics for share prices and total firm assets by one-digit SIC code. For sample firms share price is the price at the date of the loan and firm size is total assets for the year of the loan. Share price and total assets for control firms are measured as the mean share price and total assets for the firm over the sample period (1987-1992).

	N	-Share Mean	Prices Range	Total As N Mean	sets Range
SIC 1 Sample Firms Industry	26 141	7.46 11.99	.28-43.12	26 366 141 757	16- 1721 3-17451
SIC 2 Sample Firms Industry	33 430		.14-47.37 .73-87.66	33 559 430 2620	5- 6254 1-87498
SIC 3 Sample Firms Industry	113 802	8.73 16.93	.22-67.12 .32-91.56	113 578 802 891	2-17381 1-85103
SIC 4 Sample Firms Industry	20 92	22.46 29.11		20 3861 92 4512	16-22290 4-46518
SIC 5 Sample Firms Industry	66 315	5.19 17.35	.07-38.13 .24-78.66	66 1379 315 681	2-65219 3-14572
SIC 7 Sample Firms Industry	43 190		.03-57.75 .27-64.66	43 324 190 408	2- 4045 1- 6630
SIC 8 Sample Firms Industry	27 104	6.65 15.26	1.35-19.63 1.11-52.75	27 169 104 404	7- 2445 4-10843

Table 4-10

Results of regressions of share price on the natural logarithm of firm size and firm classification by SIC code. The dummy loan variable classifies firms as either announcing a bank loan or not.

ln (Firm size)	Loan Dummy	Intercept	Adjusted R ²	F
5.331	-5.149	-9.041	.4560	986
(.0001)	(.0001)	(.0001)		(.0001)
3.789	-2.843	-8.246	.3242	39
(.0001)	(.1532)	(.0335)		(.0001)
5.897	-8.725	-8.115	.5211	251
(.0001)	(.0002)	(.0001)		(.0001)
5.232	-4.317	-9.005	.4311	341
(.0001)	(.0002)	(.0001)		(.0001)
5.986	-2.784	-9.003	.4803	51
(.0001)	(.4065)	(.0105)		(.0001)
4.629	-6.464	-7.092	.4108	128
(.0001)	(.0001)	(.0001)		(.0001)
4.306	-4.104	-3.244	.3256	54
(.0001)	(.0245)	(.1106)		(.0001)
3.462	-5.003	-0.286	.2881	26
(.0001)	(.0278)	(.9153)		(.0001)
	5.331 (.0001) 3.789 (.0001) 5.897 (.0001) 5.232 (.0001) 5.986 (.0001) 4.629 (.0001) 4.306 (.0001) 3.462	size) Dummy 5.331 (.0001) -5.149 (.0001) 3.789 (.0001) -2.843 (.1532) 5.897 (.0001) -8.725 (.0002) 5.232 (.0001) -4.317 (.0002) 5.986 (.0001) -2.784 (.4065) 4.629 (.0001) -6.464 (.0001) 4.306 (.0001) -4.104 (.00245) 3.462 -5.003	size) Dummy Intercept 5.331 -5.149 -9.041 (.0001) (.0001) (.0001) 3.789 -2.843 -8.246 (.0001) (.1532) (.0335) 5.897 -8.725 -8.115 (.0001) (.0002) (.0001) 5.232 -4.317 -9.005 (.0001) (.0002) (.0001) 5.986 -2.784 -9.003 (.0001) (.4065) (.0105) 4.629 -6.464 -7.092 (.0001) (.0001) (.0001) 4.306 -4.104 -3.244 (.0001) (.0245) (.1106) 3.462 -5.003 -0.286	Size) Dummy Intercept R² 5.331 -5.149 -9.041 .4560 (.0001) (.0001) (.0001) .3242 (.0001) (.1532) (.0335) .3242 5.897 -8.725 -8.115 .5211 (.0001) (.0002) (.0001) .4311 (.0001) (.0002) (.0001) .4803 (.0001) (.4065) (.0105) .4108 4.629 -6.464 -7.092 .4108 (.0001) (.0001) (.0001) (.0001) 4.306 -4.104 -3.244 .3256 (.0001) (.0245) (.1106) 3.462 -5.003 -0.286 .2881

receiving a bank loan (1) or not (0). Contrary to expectations the dummy variable is significantly negative for all SIC codes except one and four where the coefficient is insignificant. These results indicate that the sample of firms announcing bank loans has significantly lower share prices after controlling for firm size than do other firms within the industry. Hypothesis Four

The fourth hypothesis examines whether the number of presentations made to the New York Society of Security Analyst (NYSSA) by firms receiving bank loans is significantly lower than the number or presentations made by firms in the same industry not announcing bank loans. Table 4-11 presents descriptive statistics on the mean number of NYSSA presentations and firm size for both sample firms and other firms within the industry. Again, there is considerable variation in the means between industry groups.

Table 4-12 presents the results of regressions of the number of presentations to the NYSSA on the natural logarithm of total firm assets and a dummy variable indicating whether the firm announced receiving a bank loan (1) or not (0). For the total sample and SIC codes one, three, and seven the dummy coefficient is

Table 4-11 Descriptive statistics for presentations to the NYSSA and total assets by SIC code.

	# N	Presen Mean		N	Total Mean	Assets Range
SIC 1 Sample Firms Industry	24 186	.1363	0-1.00 0-0.57			16- 1721 3-17451
SIC 2 Sample Firms Industry		.0312			559 2444	5- 6254 1-87498
SIC 3 Sample Firms Industry	113 916	.0594 .0286	0-1.00 0-1.00		580 983	2-17381 1-85103
SIC 4 Sample Firms Industry	20 114	.1000 .0576	0-1.00 0-0.85		3862 4242	16-22290 4-46518
SIC 5 Sample Firms Industry	66 338	.0178	0-1.00 0-0.85		1392 676	2-65219 3-14572
SIC 7 Sample Firms Industry	43 214		0-1.00 0-0.43	43 205	324 411	2- 4045 1- 6630
SIC 8 Sample Firms Industry	27 122		0-0.28	27 117		7- 2211 2-10652

Table 4-12

Results of regressions of number of presentations to the NYSSA on the natural logarithm of firm size and firm classification by SIC code. Firms are classified as either receiving a bank loan(1) or not(0).

	ln (Firm Loan			Adjusted			
	size)	Dummy	Intercept	R ²	F		
Full Sample	0.011	0.030	-0.030 (.0001)	.0400	53.0 (.0001)		
SIC 1	0.038 (.0001)	0.094 (.0062)	-0.146 (.0003)	.1562	17.0 (.0001)		
SIC 2	0.006 (.0003)	0.011 (.488)	-0.009 (.383)	.0224	7.0 (.0013)		
SIC 3	0.009 (.0001)	0.035 (.0044)	-0.016 (.1400)	.0242	13.0 (.0001)		
SIC 4	0.037 (.0001)	0.054 (.2250)	-0.183 (.0009)	.1607	12.0 (.0001)		
SIC 5	0.005 (.0953)	-0.004 (.7650)	0.007 (.9659)	.0033	1.6 (.1937)		
SIC 7	0.013 (.0016)	0.042 (.0286)	-0.040 (.0457)	.0494	7.0 (.0009)		
SIC 8	0.001	-0.011 (.2391)	0.004	-	1.3		

significantly positive indicating that firms announcing bank loans generally make more presentations to the NYSSA than other firms within their industry after controlling for firm size. Restating the number of presentations made by sample firms to 1989 equivalents produces similar results. The dummy coefficient for the full sample of firms is positive (.0272) and significant at the .006 level. Results from tests of hypotheses three and four suggest that firms announcing bank loans are actively seeking the attention of analysts more than other firms within the industry. Results are consistent with Diamonds theory that firms use bank debt to build their reputation in the public debt markets.

Comprehensive Tests

When all variables tested in hypotheses one through four are included in a regression model the F statistic for the model as a whole is insignificant. Therefore, stepwise regression procedures were used to determine significant variables. The correlation of the estimates between these variables is given in Table 4-13. The only highly correlated estimates are the proportion of brokerages (PB) and the proportion of analyst following (PAF). Results of the stepwise regressions of standardarized abnormal returns on the following

Table 4-13
Correlation of Estimates

				
CORRB	LSIZE	PAAF	PRAF	PAF
LSIZE PAAF PRAF PAF PB PRB NYSSA PRICE	1.0000 0.0809 -0.0737 -0.0914 -0.0184 -0.1500 -0.0821 -0.1476	0.0809 1.0000 -0.3300 -0.0154 0.0206 -0.0329 -0.0329	-0.0737 -0.3300 1.0000 0.1445 -0.1441 -0.5972 0.0484 -0.1238	-0.0914 -0.0154 0.1445 1.0000 -0.9811 -0.1211 0.2685 0.0884
CORRB	PB	PRB	NYSSA	PRICE
LSIZE PAAF PRAF PAF PB PRB NYSSA PRICE	-0.0184 0.0206 -0.1441 -0.9811 1.0000 0.0949 -0.2827 -0.1649	-0.1500 -0.0329 -0.5972 -0.1211 0.0949 1.0000 -0.0554 0.1161	-0.0821 -0.0329 0.0484 0.2685 -0.2827 -0.0554 1.0000 0.0402	-0.1476 -0.0097 -0.1238 0.0884 -0.1649 0.1161 0.0402 1.0000

variables are presented in Table 4-14: firm size, PAAF, PRAF, PAF, PB, PRB, NYSSA presentations, and share price. For the total sample of favorable and unfavorable loan announcements the percent of high reputation analysts (PRAF) and share price are the only significant variables.

When the portfolio is disaggregated according to loan type, results indicate that the coefficient for the percent of high reputation analysts is significantly negative for the portfolio of new loans and favorable renewals as a whole. These results indicate that higher reputation analysts reduce the market's response to bank loan announcements.

Firm size is the only significant variable for the portfolio of unfavorable announcements. After the portfolio is disaggregated according to size none of the variables are significant.

Table 4-15 presents the results of employing stepwise regressions of standardized abnormal returns on variables included in tests of hypotheses one through four and other variables which banking theory suggests may influence market response to the loan announcement.

For the total sample of favorable and unfavorable loan announcements the percent of high reputation analyst

Table 4-14

Results of stepwise regressions of standardized abnormal returns (SAR) on the variables from hypotheses one through four (firm size, proportion analyst following (PAF), % All-American analysts (PAAF), % high reputation analysts (PRAF), proportion of brokerages (PB), percent of high reputation brokerages (PRB), share price, and the number or presentations to the NYSSA).

	Intercept	Ln Size	PRAF	РВ	Share Price	Adjusted R²	F statistic
Panel A: Total Sample All Announcements	0.8138		-0.8617 (.083)		-0.0110 (.011)	.021	4.42 (.013)
Panel B: Initial Loans Full Sample:	and Favorable 0.576 (.0001)	Renewals	-0.921 (.038)			.012	4.33 (.038)
Small Firms:	0.6375 (.0001)		-1.486 (.081)			.013	3.08 (.081)
Medium Firms:	-3.211 (.0235)	0.8052 (.0056)		-4.6201 (.0008)		.154	7.10 (.0016)
Large Firms:	no significant	models	can be fo	rmed			
Panel C: Unfavorable r Full Sample:	enewals and loa -2.465 (.0001)	n termina 0.2278 (.048)	ations			.055	4.11

No significant models can be formed for small, medium or large unfavorable portfolios.

Table 4-15

Results of stepwise regressions of standardized abnormal returns (SAR) on the variables from hypotheses one through four (firm size, proportion analyst following (PAF), % All-American analysts (PAAF), % high reputation analysts (PRAF), proportion of brokerages (PB), percent of high reputation brokerages (PRB), share price, and the number or presentations to the NYSSA) and other variables banking theory suggests may influence market response (industry classification, loan maturity, security, structure of the loan agreement, the proportion of loan amount to total firm assets, the number of participating banks and the time on the CRSP files).

	Inter-	ln			Share				Di	ımmy	Ādj	<u>;</u>
	cept	(size)	PRAF	PB		SIC2	S1C5	PAMT	#Banks	Åge	RŹ	
anel A: Total											***-	
	-0.332		0.792					0.318			.201	40.92
	(.001)		(.0001)					(.04)				(.001)
Panel B: Initi		and Fa		Renewal	s							
full Sample:	0.536		-0.870							0.350	.017	3.27
	(.0001)		(.053)							(.135)		(.039)
Small Firms:	0.668				-0.054		0.467			0.613	.053	3.93
	(.0001)				(.03)		(.07)			(.06)		(.01)
ledium Firms:	-3.071	0.765		-4.591		0.635					.181	6,23
	(.029)	(.008)		(.0009)		(.09)						(.001)
arge Firms:	1.189								-0.858		.085	4.00
-	(.002)								(.02)			(.02)
Panel C: Unfav	orable Re	enewals	and Lo	an Termi	nations	SICI	SIC8	PAMT				
ull Sample:	-0.736					-2.023		-0.829			.208	7.18
·	(.002)					(.03)		(.003)				(.002)
Small Firms:	-0.462						1.826	-1.257			. 398	7.28
	(.22)						(.09)	(.001)				(.005)
ledium Firms:	-0.948					-3.836	-2.127				. 484	8.21
	(.006)					(.004)	(.022)					(.004)

Large Firms: No significant models can be formed

following and the loan amount as a percent of total assets provides an R² of .201. However, the significance of variables varies according to the type of loan (favorable or unfavorable) and firm size. Industry dummy variable coefficients are significant for small and medium firms in both the favorable and unfavorable loan announcement portfolios. In addition, for small firms the share price coefficient is also significantly positive for the portfolio of favorable loan announcements. These results indicate that lower share prices for small firms result in higher market response to the announcement. The coefficient for the proportion of brokerages is significantly negative for medium firms with favorable loan announcements indicating a lower market response as the proportion of brokerages increases. The only significant variable for the portfolio of large firms with favorable loan announcements is the dummy variable for the number of banks. This finding indicates that loans to large firms involving five or more banks result in significantly lower market response than loans involving fewer banks.

Industry classification and the loan amount as a percent of total firm assets are the only significant variables for the portfolio of unfavorable loan

announcements. For the portfolio of small firms with unfavorable loan announcements the relative size of the loan is positively related market response. Therefore, as the loan as a percent of total assets increases market response to an unfavorable loan announcement becomes more negative.

Measures of analyst and brokerage following and reputation are not significant for either the portfolio of unfavorable loan announcements as a whole or portfolio disaggregated according to firm size. Research indicates that analysts may be reluctant to issue negative reports as this might endanger their relationship with firm management. Such reluctance could account for the insignificance of the analyst and brokerage variables for the portfolio of unfavorable loan announcements. Schipper (1991) notes that losing access to management may be costly to sell-side analysts. "Analysts rank company management among the top five sources of information used in making judgements and decisions, so it seems reasonable to expect that they would like to maintain good relations with, and ready access to, managers" (Schipper 1991, 115).

Summary

Chapter four reports the analyses and results of the study. Section one discusses sample selection procedures and results and presents firm characteristics. The second section presents results of univariate and multivariate regression tests of the hypotheses.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Chapter five summarizes the study and the conclusions reached. Section one provides a brief overview of the study. The second section discusses the expected findings of the study. Results and implications of the study are presented in section three. Finally, study limitations and suggestions for future research are presented.

Overview of the Study

Research suggests that banks may have a comparative advantage in performing at least two valuable functions, information gathering and monitoring. The primary responsibility of analysts is also to gather and disseminate information on firms. However, it is not known how analyst following affects market response to bank loan announcements.

This study examined two research questions: 1) Does analyst and brokerage following affect market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone? and 2) Do firms receiving bank loans seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not

receiving bank loans? To answer these questions the following methods were used.

A sample of firms receiving bank loans was obtained by searching the Dow Jones News Wire for the period 1987 through 1992 for announcements of bank loan agreements. Loans were classified as initial loans, favorable renewals, unfavorable renewals, or loan cancellations on the basis of information contained in the announcement and the firm's Form 10-K. Standard event study methodology was used to determine share price response to the loan announcements. Next, standardized abnormal returns were aggregated across firms. Finally, firm specific factors were examined as a means of explaining the observed abnormal returns. Factors examined included: (1) the number of analysts and brokerages following a firm, (2) the reputation of the analysts and brokerages, (3) firm share price, (4) the number of presentations made to the New York Society of Security Analysts (NYSSA). In addition, the following variables which banking theory suggests may influence market response to bank loan announcements were examined: (1) relative size of the loan, (2) loan maturity, (3) loan security, (4) structure of the loan agreement, (5) the number of banks

participating in the loan, and (6) the length of time firm data has been carried on CRSP tapes.

Expectations

Firm size, brokerage and analyst following, and the reputation of the information providers were expected to be negatively related to the market response's response to the bank loan announcement. In addition, sample firms were expected to have higher share prices and make fewer presentations to the New York Society of Security Analysts (NYSSA) than other firms within the same industry after controlling for size. This section presents the theoretical reasons for these expectations.

Slovin, Johnson, and Glascock (1992) find that when a sample of bank loan announcements is grouped according to firm size, positive stock price reactions occur only for the sample of small firms. As a group, large firms experience only normal returns. Market capitalization was the proxy for firm size. These results imply that the amount of information regarding a firm which is publicly available may influence market response to the bank loan announcement. Therefore, firm size was expected to be negatively related to the market's response to the bank loan announcement. However, because share price was a

variable of interest in this study, total firm assets were used as a proxy for firm size.

The amount of publicly available information regarding a firm depends to a large extent on the information production and dissemination activities of financial analysts. Results of Dempsey's (1989) examination of market response to annual earnings announcements indicates that increased analyst following reduces the information content of earnings announcements even after controlling for firm size. Dempsey's findings are consistent with Arbel and Strebel's (1983) finding that after controlling for size, the number of analysts following a firm is negatively related to the firm's annual return. It was hypothesized that increased analyst and brokerage following would also reduce market response to bank loan announcements.

A simplifying assumption made in most studies that examine analyst following is that analysts do not differ in quality. However, there is a substantial amount of theoretical and empirical evidence indicating that the reputation of information providers is important. In addition, the financial press often expresses the opinion that the reputation of financial analysts is important. Therefore, the reputation of analysts and brokerages was

hypothesized to be negatively related to the market's response to bank loan announcements.

Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989) contend that analysts reduce the agency costs of public debt and equity through by monitoring managerial performance.

Therefore, firms issuing public debt may try to attract the attention of analysts as a means of reducing agency costs of debt. Alternatively, firms may choose bank monitoring. Research indicates that firms can attract analyst attention by: 1) increasing the potential economic benefit of information searches by lowering share price and 2) reducing analyst search costs by providing information to analysts through direct contact. Expectations were that firms receiving information gathering and monitoring services from banks via bank loans would seek the attention of analysts less actively than firms not receiving bank loans.

Results

Results are presented for tests of hypotheses one through four. Next, results of combined tests of the hypotheses are reported.

Hypothesis one examined whether analyst following reduces market response to bank loan announcements beyond that associated with firm size alone. Support was found

for this hypothesis. Model adjusted R² increased when either analyst or brokerage following was included with the size variable for the portfolio of unfavorable loan announcements. However, the analyst and brokerage following effect was strongest for medium size firms making favorable loan announcements.

The second hypothesis examined whether the reputation of analysts and brokerages following a firm influence market response to the bank loan announcement. Results indicate that analyst and brokerage reputation are significant determinates of market response for the portfolio of small firms with favorable loan announcements. In contrast, market response to favorable loan announcements of medium size firms are significantly influenced by analyst and brokerage following only. Neither the analyst and brokerage following variables nor measures of the reputation of the information providers were significant for the portfolio of large firms.

The third hypothesis examined whether share prices of firms receiving bank loans are significantly higher than share prices of firms not announcing bank loans after controlling for firm size. Contrary to expectations, results indicate that the sample of firms announcing bank loans has significantly lower share

prices after controlling for firm size than do other firms in the same industry.

The fourth hypothesis examined whether the number of presentations made to the NYSSA by firms receiving bank loans is significantly lower than the number of presentations made by firms in the same industry not announcing bank loans. Again, results were contrary to expectations. Firms announcing bank loans generally made more presentations to the NYSSA than other firms in their industry after controlling for firm size.

The final test examined variables from the first four hypotheses with variables which banking theory suggests may influence market response to bank loan announcements. Results indicate that the significance of the variables depends on the type of loan announcement (favorable or unfavorable) and firm size. Results indicate that generally increases in the percent of high reputation analysts following a firm reduce market response to loan announcements. Market response to the loan also increases as the relative size of the loan increases.

In addition, market response to the portfolios of favorable loan announcements is significantly influenced by a number of variables which seem to depend on the size

of the firm. Market response to favorable announcements by small firms is influenced by both the firm's share price and the length of time data has been available on the CRSP tapes. For medium size firms the proportion of brokerage following is significant. Finally, the only significant variable for the portfolio of large firms is the number of banks. Results indicate that loans to large firms involving five or more banks result in significantly lower market response.

For the portfolio of unfavorable loan announcements measures of analyst and brokerage following and reputation are not significant. Industry and the relative amount of the loan are the only significant variables for this portfolio of loan announcements. Results indicate that the market responds more negatively to unfavorable loan announcements as the relative size of the loan increases.

Conclusions

Support was found for Hypotheses One and Two.

Results indicate that there is an analyst and brokerage following effect that is not accounted for by firm size alone. In addition, the reputation of the analyst or brokerage is significant for portfolios of favorable loan announcements. Finally, the importance of both following

and reputation measures seems to vary depending on the type of loan announcement (favorable or unfavorable) and firm size.

Results were contrary to expectations for Hypotheses Three and Four. Firms announcing bank loans have lower share prices and make more presentations to the NYSSA after controlling for size than other firms within the same industry. These results indicate that firms announcing bank loans are actively seeking the attention of analysts more than other firms. Results are consistent with Diamond's suggestion that firms use bank debt as a means of building reputation. Part of the reputation building process may also be lowering share prices in order to provide an economic incentive for analysts and brokerages to gather information and monitor the firm. Direct contact through presentations at the NYSSA is another means of building the firms reputation with analysts and brokerages.

Finally, other variables which banking theory suggests may influence market response to bank loan announcements are found to be significant for particular loan type by firm size portfolios of firms. Industry classification and the relative size of the loan are significant for the portfolio of unfavorable loan

announcements. Finally, industry classification, the number of banks participating in the loan, the length of time firm data has been available on the CRSP tapes, and the relative size of the loan are significant for portfolios of favorable bank loan announcements disaggregated by firm size.

Limitations

Certain limitations of the study must be recognized. First, in examining whether firms actively seek the attention of analysts only share prices and NYSSA presentations are considered. Bhushan (1989a) and Moyer, Chatfield, and Sisneros (1989) have identified a number of firm characteristics that influence analyst following. The characteristics they identify are relatively stable and not easily changed. However, there may also be a number of steps firms might take to attract analysts' attention without making major firm changes other than share prices and presentations to the NYSSA.

Second, presentations to the NYSSA are only an indirect measure of the amount of contact between analysts and the firm. Presentations to NYSSA are very formal with senior company officials speaking to a large group of analysts and guests. Informal meetings between individual analysts and the firm occur much more

frequently. Firms also make presentations to specific brokerages and local or regional analyst associations. Therefore, NYSSA presentations are only the end of a spectrum of possible contacts between the firm and analysts.

Finally, various proxies for firm size have been used in research. Market capitalization is the measure most often used in studies examining market response to loan announcements. Market capitalization is obtained by multiplying share price by the number of outstanding shares of the firm. Therefore, to avoid redundancy in the independent variables the firm size measure used in this study was total firm assets. Use of the total asset measure of firm size reduces the problem of redundant variables, but makes the comparability between this study and other bank loan announcement studies more difficult.

Suggestions for Future Research

The models developed in this study used only a few of the many possible measures of analyst and brokerage reputation. A number of professional journals rank brokerages according to various performance and size measures. Future researchers could include these alternative measures of analyst and brokerage reputation in models which examine the relative importance of the

amount and reputation of analyst and brokerage following on the information content of bank loan announcements.

In addition, this study focused on the number and reputation of sell side analysts only. Analysis of buy side analysts characteristics may also provide important insights into the relation between the information gathering and monitoring services provided by banks and similar services provided by financial analysts.

Finally, more precise measures on the amount and quality of information flows between financial analysts and firms could be developed. Economic constraints and incentives faced by financial analysts may be influenced by the amount and quality of information supplied to them by the firm.

SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Arbel, A. and Strebel, P. "The Neglected and Small Firm Effects." <u>The Financial Review</u> (November 1983): 201-218.
- Atiase, R. "Predisclosure Information Asymmetries, Firm Capitalization, Financial Reports and Security Price Behavior Around Earnings Announcements." <u>Journal of Accounting Research</u> (Spring 1985): 21-26.
- Balog, James. Interview. "The 1991 All American Research Team." <u>Institutional Investor</u> (October 1991): 80-92.
- Bamber, L. "The Information Content of Annual Earnings Releases: A Trading Volume Approach." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Accounting Research</u> (Spring 1986): 40-56
- Beaver, W. "Current Trends in Corporate Disclosure."

 <u>Journal of Accountancy</u> (January 1978): 32-45.
- Bernstein, L. "A Financial Analyst's Guide to Accounting Quality." <u>Business Credit</u> (February 1992): 11-17.
- Best, R. and Zhang, H. "Alternative Information Sources and the Information Content of Bank Loans." The <u>Journal of Finance</u> (September 1993): 1507-1522.
- Bhushan, R. "Firm Characteristics and Analyst Following."

 <u>Journal of Accounting and Economics</u> 11 (1989): 255274.
- ______, "Collection of Information About Publicly Traded Firms: Theory and Evidence." <u>Journal of Accounting and Economics</u> 11 (1989): 245-263.
- Brennan, M. and Hughes, P. "Stock Prices and the Supply of Information." <u>The Journal of Finance</u> (December 1991): 1665-1691.
- Brown, S. and Warner, J. "Measuring Security Price Performance." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 8 (1980): 205-258.
- _____, "Using Daily Stock Returns: The Case of Event Studies." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 14 (1985): 3-32.

- Bushman, R. "Public Disclosure and the Structure of Private Information Markets." <u>Journal of Accounting Research</u> 29 (1991): 261-274.
- Carter, R. and Manaster, S. "Initial Public Offerings and Underwriter Reputation" <u>The Journal of Finance</u> 45 (1990): 1045-1067.
- Carvell, S. and Strebel, P. "Is There a Neglected Firm Effect?" <u>Journal of Business Finance and Accounting</u> (Summer 1987): 279-290.
- Coler, M. and Schaefer, A. "70% off! Discount Brokers Still Offer Big Savings." <u>AAII Journal</u> 10 (1988): 12-14.
- Copeland, T. "Liquidity Changes Following Stock Splits"

 The Journal of Finance (March 1979): 115-139.
- Daniells, L. <u>Business Information Sources</u>. 3rd ed. California: University of California Press, 1993.
- Dempsey, S. "Predisclosure Information Search Incentives, Analyst Following, and Earnings Announcement Price Response." <u>The Accounting Review</u> (October 1989): 748-756.
- Diamond, D. "Financial Intermediation and Delegated Monitoring." Review of Economic Studies (1984): 393-413.
- , "Monitoring and Reputation: The Choice between Bank Loans and Directly Placed Debt." <u>Journal of Political Economy</u> 99 (1991): 689-721.
- Easterwood, J., and Kadapakkam, P. "The Role of Private and Public Debt in Corporate Capital Structures."

 <u>Financial Management</u> (Autumn 1991) 49-57.
- Fama, E. "What's Different about Banks." <u>Journal of Monetary Economics</u> 15 (1985): 29-39.
- Foster, G. <u>Financial Statement Analysis</u>. 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice, 1986.
- Freeman, R. "The Association Between Accounting Earnings and Security Returns for Large and Small Firms."

 <u>Journal of Accounting and Economics</u> 9 (1987): 195-228.
- Garbade, K. and Silber, W. "Structural Organization of Secondary Markets: Clearing Frequency, Dealer

- Activity and Liquidity Risk." The Journal of Finance (June 1979): 577-589.
- Haugen, R. A. <u>Modern Investment Theory</u>. 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall, 1990.
- <u>Institutional Investor</u> "The 1991 All American Research Team" (October 1991): 80-92.
- James, C. "Some Evidence on the Uniqueness of Bank Loans." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 19 (1987): 217-235.
- Klein, B. and Leffler, K. "The Role of Market Forces in Assuring Contractual Performance." <u>Journal of Political Economy</u> 89 (1981): 615-641.
- Lang, M. and Lundholm, R. "Cross-Sectional Determinants of Analyst Ratings of Corporate Disclosures."

 Journal of Accounting Research 31 (1993): 246-271.
- Lummer, S. and McConnell, J. "Further Evidence on the Bank Lending Process and the Capital Market Response to Bank Loan Announcements." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 25 (1989): 99-122.
- Mikkelson, W. and Partch, M. "Valuation Effects of Security Offerings and the Issuance Process." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 15 (1986): 31-60.
- Moyer, R., Chatfield, R. and Sisneros, P. "Security Analyst Monitoring Activity: Agency Costs and Information Demands." <u>Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis</u> (December 1989): 503-512.
- Nelson's Directory of Investment Research. New York: Nelson Publications, 1988.
- Ohlson, J. and Penman, S. "Volatility Increases Subsequent to Stock Splits: An Empirical Aberration." <u>Journal of Financial Economics</u> 14 (June 1985): 251-266.
- Peterson, P. "Event Studies: A Review of Issues and Methodology" <u>Quarterly Journal of Business and Economics</u> (Summer 1989): 36-66.
- Regan, P. "The Effect of Society Presentations on Stock Prices." <u>Financial Analysts Journal</u> (May-June 1980)

- SAS Institute Inc. <u>SAS/STAT User's Guide Version 6,</u> 4th ed. Vol 2. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., 1992.
- Schipper, K. "Analysts' Forecasts." <u>Accounting Horizons</u> (December 1991): 27-62.
- Schollmeyer, Edward. Interview. "The 1991 All American Research Team." <u>Institutional Investor</u> (October 1991): 80-92.
- Slovin, M., Johnson, S. and Glascock, J. "Firm Size and the Information Content of Bank Loan Announcements."

 <u>Journal of Banking and Finance</u> 16 (1992): 1057-1071.
- Slovin, M., Sushka, M. and Hudson, C. "External Monitoring and its Effect on Seasoned Common Stock Issues." <u>Journal of Accounting and Economics</u> 12 (1990): 397-417.
- Spiro, L. "Pru Securities: What the Scandal May Cost."

 <u>Business Week</u> (5 July. 1993): 87-88.
- Stickel, S. "Reputation and Performance Among Security Analysts." The Journal of Finance (December 1992): 1811-1836.
- Sundaram, S., Ogden, W. and Walker, M. "Wealth Effects of Corporate Presentations to the New York Society of Security Analysts." <u>Financial Analysts</u> <u>Journal</u> (March-April 1993): 88-89.
- Titman, S. and Trueman, B. "Information Quality and the Valuation of New Issues." <u>Journal of Accounting and Economics</u> 8 (1986): 159-172.
- Walmsley, T., Yadav, P. and Rees, W. "The Information Content of the Company Meeting Programme of the Society of Investment Analysts: 1985-1990." <u>Journal</u> of Business Finance and Accounting 19 (June 1992): 571-584.

Joan Brumm graduated from Wayne State University in 1973 with a major in accounting. She graduated from East Texas State University at Texarkana in 1991, with a Master of Business Administration degree. She received her doctoral degree from Louisiana State University in May 1996, with a major in accounting and a minor in finance. She is a certified public accountant licensed in the state of Texas. Ms. Brumm is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Texas Society of CPAs, and the American Accounting Association.

Ms. Brumm was employed in corporate accounting from 1976 to 1981. She was sole proprietor of an accounting and tax office from 1981 to 1991. From 1991 to 1996 she was a graduate student in the Department of Accounting at Louisiana State University. As a graduate teaching assistant she taught financial and managerial accounting classes. Since September 1995 she has been an Assistant Professor of Accounting at East Texas State University at Texarkana.

DOCTORAL EXAMINATION AND DISSERTATION REPORT

Candidate: Joan Marie B	rumm
Major Field: Accounti	ng
Title of Dissertation:	The Effects of Analyst Following on Market Response to Bank Loan Announcements
	Approved: Omald Dein Major Professor and Chairman
	Major Professor and Chairman The Control of the Graduate School
	EXAMINING COMMITTEE:
	Mythi
	Necholas apostolon
	Michael S. hellpi
	Stew a Homing
Date of Examination:	
3-28-96	